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RESPONSE OF NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT TO  

THE CITY OF CARLISLE, KENTUCKY’S FIRST REQUEST FOR 

INFORMATION 

 

 

 Comes Nicholas County Water District (“Nicholas District”) for its Response 

to the City of Carlisle, Kentucky’s First Request for Information, and states as shown 

on the following pages.  

_______________________________ 

Damon R. Talley 

Mary Ellen Wimberly  

Stoll Keenon Ogden PLLC 

300 West Vine Street, Suite 2100 

Lexington, Kentucky 40507 

Telephone: (859) 231-3000 

Fax: (859) 253-1093 

damon.talley@skofirm.com 

maryellen.wimberly@skofirm.com 

Counsel for Nicholas County Water District 

 





CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

 In accordance with the Commission’s Order of July 22, 2021 in Case No. 

2020-00085 (Electronic Emergency Docket Related to the Novel Coronavirus 

COVID-19), this is to certify that the electronic filing has been transmitted to the 

Commission on February 7, 2022; and that there are currently no parties in this 

proceeding that the Commission has excused from participation by electronic means. 

 

 

 

_______________________________ 

Damon R. Talley 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 



 

NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT 

 

CASE NO. 2021-00382 

 

Response to the City of Carlisle, Kentucky’s First Request for Information 

 

Question No. 1 

 

Responding Witness: Monica Pryor, Office Manager 

 

Q-1. Copies of current contracts with all its wholesale water suppliers. 

 

A-1. Nicholas District purchases water on a daily basis from the City of Carlisle 

 and the Western Fleming Water District.  It purchases water on an 

 emergency basis from the Buffalo Trail Water Association, Inc.  A copy of 

 each of these contracts is on the PSC website.  A copy of each of these 

 contracts is also attached to this Response as Exhibit 1. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 



 

 

NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT 

 

CASE NO. 2021-00382 

 

Response to the City of Carlisle, Kentucky’s First Request for Information 

 

Question No. 2 

 

Responding Witness: Monica Pryor, Office Manager 

 

Q-2. Copies of three (3) most recent audits. 

 

A-2. The Audit Reports for Nicholas District for calendar years 2020, 2019, and 

 2018 are attached to this Response as Exhibit 2. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT 

 

CASE NO. 2021-00382 

 

Response to the City of Carlisle, Kentucky’s First Request for Information 

 

Question No. 3 

 

Responding Witness: Monica Pryor, Office Manager 

 

Q-3. Copies of all Grant Applications to Commonwealth or any U.S. agency 

 from 1 JAN 2019 to date. 

 

A-3. On August 25, 2021, the United States Department of Agriculture, Rural 

 Development (“RD”) issued its Letter of Conditions to Nicholas District 

 setting forth the conditions under which it would make a loan of $1,221,000 

 and a grant of $204,000 for its Phase 12 Water System Improvement Project 

 (the “Project”).  The Project is also conditioned upon Nicholas District 

 receiving a $500,000 grant from the Appalachian Regional Commission.  RD 

 then issued an Amended Letter of Conditions on September 21, 2021 to 

 increase the retail rates to be charged by Nicholas District.  Both the Letter of 

 Conditions and the Amended Letter of Conditions are attached to this 

 Response. 

 

More information about the Project is contained in the Preliminary 

Engineering Report (the “PER”)  prepared by Bluegrass Engineering and 

submitted to RD.  The PER is attached to this Response as Exhibit 3. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 



 

Rural Development • Kentucky State Office 
771 Corporate Drive, Suite 200, Lexington, Kentucky 40502 

Voice (859) 224-7300 • Fax (855) 661-8335 • TTY (859) 224-7422 
 

USDA is an equal opportunity provider, employer and lender. 
 

If you wish to file a Civil Rights program complaint of discrimination, complete the USDA Program Discrimination Complaint Form (PDF), found online at 
http://www.ascr.usda.gov/complaint_filing_cust.html, or at any USDA office, or call (866) 632-9992 to request the form. You may also write a letter containing 
all of the information requested in the form. Send your completed complaint form or letter to us by mail at U.S. Department of Agriculture, Director, Office 
of Adjudication, 1400 Independence Avenue, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20250-9410, by fax (202) 690-7442 or email at program.intake@usda.gov. 

August 25, 2021   
 
 
Mr. Silas Cleaver, Chairman 
Nicholas County Water District 
1639 Old Paris Road 
Carlisle, KY 40311 
 

RE: FY21 Phase 12 Water System  
 
Dear Mr. Cleaver: 
 
This letter establishes conditions that must be understood and agreed to by you before further 
consideration may be given to the application.  The loan and grant will be administered on behalf 
of the Rural Utilities Service (RUS) by the State and Area office staff of USDA Rural 
Development.  Any changes in project cost, source of funds, scope of services or any other 
significant changes in the project or applicant must be reported to and approved by USDA Rural 
Development, by written amendment to this letter.  Any changes not approved by Rural 
Development shall be cause for discontinuing processing of the application.  It should also be 
understood that Rural Development is under no obligation to provide additional funds to meet an 
overrun in construction costs. 
 
This letter is not to be considered as loan or grant approval or as a representation as to the 
availability of funds.  The docket may be completed on the basis of a RUS loan not to exceed 
$1,221,000, a RUS grant not to exceed $204,000, and an Appalachian Regional Commission 
(ARC) grant of $500,000. 
 
If Rural Development makes the loan, the interest rate will be the lower of the rate in effect at the 
time of loan approval or the rate in effect at the time of loan closing, unless the applicant 
otherwise chooses.  The loan will be considered approved on the date a signed copy of Form RD 
1940-1, "Request for Obligation of Funds," is mailed to you. 
 
Please complete and return the attached Form RD 1942-46, "Letter of Intent to Meet Conditions," 
if you desire that further consideration be given to your application. 
 
The "Letter of Intent to Meet Conditions" must be executed within three weeks from the date of 
this letter, or it becomes invalid unless a time extension is granted by Rural Development. 
 
If the conditions set forth in this letter are not met within 240 days from the date hereof, Rural 
Development reserves the right to discontinue the processing of the application.  In signing Form 
RD 1942-46, "Letter of Intent to Meet Conditions," you are agreeing to complete the following as 
expeditiously as possible: 
 
1. Number of Users and Their Contribution: 
 
 There shall be 1,610 water users all of which are existing customers.  The Field Director 

will review and authenticate the number of users obtained and check evidence of cash 
contribution prior to advertising for construction bids.  
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2. Grant Agreement: 
 
Attached is a copy of RUS Bulletin 1780-12, "Water and Waste System Grant 
Agreement," for your review.  You will be required to execute a completed form at the time 
of grant closing. 

 
3. Drug-Free Workplace: 
 

Prior to grant closing, the District will be required to execute Form AD-1049, "Certification 
Regarding Drug-Free Workplace Requirements (Grants) Alternative I - For Grantees 
Other Than Individuals." 

 
4. Repayment Period:  
 

The loan will be scheduled for repayment over a period not to exceed 40 years from the 
date of the Bond.  Principal payment will not be deferred.  Payments will be in accordance 
with applicable KRS, which requires interest to be paid semi-annually (January 1st and 
July 1st) and principal will be due on or before the first of January.  Rural Development 
may require the District to adopt a supplemental payment agreement providing for 
monthly payments of principal and interest so long as the bond is held or insured by RUS.  
Monthly payments will be approximate amortized installments 
 

5. Recommended Repayment Method: 
 

Payments on this loan shall be made using the Preauthorized Debit (PAD) payment 
method.  This procedure eliminates the need for paper checks and ensures timely receipt 
of RD loan payments.  To initiate PAD payments, Form RD 3550-28, “Authorization 
Agreement for Preauthorized Payments,” should be signed by the District to authorize the 
electronic withdrawal of funds from your designated bank account on the exact installment 
payment due date.  The Field Director will furnish the necessary forms and further 
guidance on the PAD procedure. 
 

6. Reserve Accounts: 
 

Reserves must be properly budgeted to maintain the financial viability of any operation.  
Reserves are important to fund unanticipated emergency maintenance, pay for repairs, 
and assist with debt service should the need arise. 
 
The District will be required to deposit $315 per month into a "Funded Debt Reserve 
Account" until the account reaches $37,800.  The deposits are to be resumed any time 
the account falls below the $37,800. 

 
The required monthly deposits to the Reserve Account and required Reserve Account levels 
are in addition to the requirements of the District’s prior bond ordinances which have not 
been properly funded prior to the underwriting of this project. The District will also need to 
catch up reserve payments for existing RD Bonds in conjunction with the new reserves. RD 
loan 91-12 (2007) requires a monthly deposit of $95 until the account reaches $11,400 and 
RD loan 91-14 (2014) requires a monthly deposit of $195 until the account reaches $23,400. 
Payments to catch up reserves for existing bonds will need to commence immediately.  
 
The monthly deposits to the Reserve Account are required to commence with the first 
month of the first full fiscal year after the facility becomes operational. 
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The District also needs to fund an account for short-lived assets by depositing a sum of  
$1,666 monthly into the account.  The funds in the short-lived asset account may be used 
by the District as needed to replace or add short-lived assets in the District’s utility system. 
 

7. Security Requirements: 
 

A pledge of gross revenue(s) will be provided in the Bond Ordinance.  Bonds shall rank on 
a parity with existing bonds, if possible.   
 
If this is not possible, the bond will be subordinate and junior to the existing bonds, in 
which case the District will be required to abrogate its right to issue additional bonds 
ranking on a parity with the existing bonds, so long as any unpaid indebtedness remains 
on this bond issue.  Additional security requirements are contained in [RUS Bulletin 1780-
12, “Water and Waste System Grant Agreement,” and RUS Bulletin 1780-27, “Loan 
Resolution Public Body.” A draft of all security instruments, including, draft bond 
resolution, must be reviewed and concurred in by the Agency prior to advertising for bids.   
 
The Bond Resolution and Loan Resolution must be duly adopted and executed prior to 
loan closing.  The Grant Agreement must be fully executed prior to the first disbursement 
of grant funds.   

 
8. Land Rights and Real Property:  
 

The District will be required to furnish satisfactory title, easements, etc., necessary to 
install, maintain and operate the facility to serve the intended users.   
The pipelines will be on private rights-of-way where feasible.  Easements and options are 
to be secured prior to advertising for construction bids. 

 
9. Organization: 
 

The District will be legally organized under applicable KRS, which will permit them to 
perform this service, borrow, or repay money. 
 
The District must maintain a current registration of their Dun and Bradstreet Data 
Universal Numbering System (DUNS) number in SAM.gov (System for Award 
Management) in order to receive federal loan and/or grant financial assistance.  This 
registration must be updated/renewed at least annually.  

 
10. Business Operations: 
 

The District will be required to operate the system under a well-established set of 
resolutions, rules and regulations.  A budget must be established annually and adopted by 
the District after review by Rural Development.  At no later than loan pre-closing, the District 
will be required to furnish a prior approved management plan to include, as a minimum, 
provisions for management, maintenance, meter reading, miscellaneous services, billing, 
collecting, delayed payment penalties, disconnect/reconnect fees, bookkeeping, making 
and delivering required reports and audits. 

 
11. Conflict of Interest Policy: 

 
Prior to obligation of funds, you will certify in writing that your organization has in place an 
up-to-date written policy on conflict of interest.  The policy will include, at a minimum: (1) a 
requirement for those with a conflict/potential conflict to disclose the conflict/potential 
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conflict, (2) a prohibition of interested members of the applicant’s governing body from 
voting on any matter in which there is a conflict, and (3) a description of the specific 
process by which the governing body will manage identified or potential conflicts. 
You must also submit a disclosure of planned or potential transactions related to the use 
of Federal funds that may constitute or present the appearance of personal or 
organizational conflict of interest.  Sample conflict of interest policies may be found at the 
National Council of Nonprofits website, 
https://www.councilofnonprofits.org/tools-resources/conflict-of-interest, or in Internal 
Revenue Service Form 1023, Appendix A, “Sample Conflict of Interest Policy,” at  
http:www.irs.gov/pub/irs-pdf/i1023.pdf.  Though these examples reference non-profit 
corporations, the requirement applies to all types of Agency borrowers. 
 
Disclosure must be in the form of a written letter signed and dated by the applicant’s 
official.  A negative disclosure of the same format is required if no conflicts are anticipated.  
Assistance in developing a conflict of interest policy is available through Agency-
contracted technical assistance providers if desired. 
 

12. Accounts, Records and Audits: 
 

The District will be required to maintain adequate records and accounts and submit 
annual budgets and year-end reports (annual audits)/statistical and financial reports, 
quarterly and annually, in accordance with subsection 1780.47 of RUS Instruction 1780.   
 
The District shall be required to submit a copy of its audit agreement for review and 
concurrence by Rural Development prior to pre-closing the loan. 

 
13. Accomplish Audits for Years in Which Federal Financial Assistance is Received: 
 

The type of financial information that must be submitted is specified below: 
 

Audits – An annual audit under the Single Audit Act is required if you expend $750,000 or 
more in Federal financial assistance per fiscal year.  The total Federal funds expended 
from all sources shall be used to determine Federal financial assistance expended.  
Expenditures of interim financing are considered Federal expenditures.   
 
All audits are to be performed in accordance with 2 CFR Part 200, as adopted by USDA 
through 2 CFR Part 400. Further guidance on preparing an acceptable audit can be 
obtained from the Agency. It is not intended that audits required by this part be separate 
and apart from audits performed in accordance with State and local laws. To the extent 
feasible, the audit work should be done in conjunction with those audits.  The audit must 
be prepared by an independent licensed Certified Public Accountant, or a State or Federal 
auditor if allowed by State law, and must be submitted within 9 months of your fiscal year 
end. 

 
14. Insurance and Bonding: 
 

The following insurance and bonding will be required: 
 

A. Adequate Liability and Property Damage Insurance including vehicular 
coverage, if applicable, must be obtained and maintained by the District.  
The District should obtain amounts of coverage as recommended by its 
attorney, consulting engineer and/or insurance provider.  

https://www.councilofnonprofits.org/tools-resources/conflict-of-interest
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B. Worker's Compensation - The District will carry worker's compensation 
insurance for employees in accordance with applicable state laws. 

 
C. Fidelity Bond - The District will provide Fidelity Bond Coverage for all 

persons who have access to funds.  Coverage may be provided either for all 
individual positions or persons, or through "blanket" coverage providing 
protection for all appropriate employees and/or officials.  The amount of 
coverage required for all RUS loans is $60,000. 

 
D. Real Property Insurance - The District will obtain and maintain adequate fire 

and extended coverage on all structures including major items of equipment 
or machinery located in the structures.   
The amounts of coverage should be based on recommendations obtained by 
the District from its attorney, consulting engineer and/or insurance provider.  
Subsurface lift stations do not have to be covered except for the value of 
electrical and pumping equipment therein. 

 
E. Flood Insurance - The District will obtain and maintain adequate coverage on 

any facilities located in special flood and mudslide prone areas. 
 
15. Planning and Performing Development: 
 

A. The engineer should not be authorized to commence work on final plans and 
specifications until a determination has been made that the project can be 
planned and constructed within the estimated cost shown in paragraph “28” of 
this letter.  The engineer may then proceed to develop final plans and 
specifications to be completed no later than 210 days from this date, and 
prepare bid documents.  The Field Director is prepared to furnish the necessary 
guide to follow so as to keep the project plans and documents within our 
guidelines and requirements.  The project must be constructed by the 
design/bid/build method of construction. The project should not be advertised for 
construction bids until all easements and enforceable options have been 
obtained, and total funds are committed or available for the project. 

 
B. The following documents will be submitted to Rural Development for review 

and must be concurred in by Rural Development prior to advertisement for 
construction bids: 

 
1. Final plans, specifications and bid documents. 
2. Applicant's letter on efforts to encourage small business and minority-

owned business participation. 
3. Legal Service Agreements. 
4. Engineering Agreements. 

 
Revision in these documents will be subject to Rural Development 
concurrence.  Any agreements, contracts, etc. not reviewed and approved 
by Rural Development will not be eligible for payment from project funds or 
revenues from facilities financed by this Agency. 
 
Prior to receipt of an authorization to advertise for construction bids, the 
District will obtain advance clearance from Bond Counsel and/or Local 
Counsel regarding compliance with KRS 424 pertaining to publishing of the 



Nicholas County Water District  6 
 

advertisement for construction bids in local newspapers and the period of 
time the notice is required to be published. 

 
16. Bid Tabulation: 
 

Immediately after bid opening, you must provide the Agency with the bid tabulation and 
your engineer’s evaluation of bids and recommendations for contract awards.  If the 
Agency agrees that the construction bids received are acceptable, adequate funds are 
available to cover the total project costs, and all the requirements of this letter have been 
satisfied, the Agency will authorize you to issue the Notice of Award. 
 
A. Cost Overruns – If bids are higher than expected, or if unexpected construction 

problems are encountered, you must utilize all options to reduce cost overruns.  
Negotiations, redesign, use of bidding alternatives, rebidding or other means will be 
considered prior to commitment of subsequent funding by the Agency.  Any requests 
for subsequent funding to cover cost overruns will be contingent on the availability of 
funds.   
 
Cost overruns exceeding 20% of the development cost at time of loan or grant 
approval or where the scope of the original purpose has changed will compete for 
funds with all other applications on hand as of that date. 

 
B. Excess Funds – If bids are lower than anticipated at time of obligation, excess funds 

must be de-obligated prior to start of construction except in the cases addressed in 
this paragraph.  In cases where the original PER for the project included items that 
were not bid, or were bid as an alternate, the State Office official may modify the 
project to fully utilize obligated funds for those items.  Amendments to the PER, ER, 
and letter of conditions may be needed for any work not included in the original project 
scope.  In all cases, prior to start of construction, excess funds will be de-obligated, 
with grant funds being de-obligated first.  Excess funds do not include contingency 
funds as described in this letter.   

 
17. Contract Documents, Final Plans, and Specifications: 
 

A. The contract documents must consist of the EJCDC construction contract documents 
as indicated in RUS Bulleting 1780-26 or other Agency-approved forms of agreement. 

 
B. The contract documents, final plans, and specifications must comply with RUS 

Instruction 1780, Subpart C – Planning, Designing, Bidding, Contracting, Constructing 
and Inspections, and must be submitted to the Agency for concurrence prior to 
advertising for bids along with an updated cost estimate.  The Agency may require 
another updated cost estimate if a significant amount of time elapses between the 
original submission and advertising for bids. 

 
C. The use of any procurement method other than competitive sealed bids must be 

requested in writing and approved by the Agency. 
 
18. Contract Review: 
 
 Your attorney will certify that the executed contract documents, including performance  
 and payment, if required, are adequate and that the persons executing these documents 

have been properly authorized to do so in accordance with RUS Instruction 1780.61 (b). 
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19. Civil Rights & Equal Opportunity: 
 

You should be aware of and will be required to comply with other federal statute 
requirements including but not limited to: 
 
A. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973: 
 

Under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended (29 U.S.C. 
794), no handicapped individual in the United States shall, solely by reason 
of their handicap, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits 
of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving 
Rural Development financial assistance. 

 
B. Civil Rights Act of 1964: 
 

All borrowers are subject to, and facilities must be operated in accordance 
with, Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. 2000d et seq.) and 
Subpart E of Part 1901 of this Title, particularly as it relates to conducting 
and reporting of compliance reviews.   
 
Instruments of conveyance for loans and/or grants subject to the Act must 
contain the covenant required by paragraph 1901.202(e) of this Title. 

 
C. The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) of 1990: 
 

This Act (42 U.S.C. 12101 et seq.) prohibits discrimination on the basis of 
disability in employment, state and local government services, public 
transportation, public accommodations, facilities, and telecommunications.  
Title II of the Act applies to facilities operated by state and local public 
entities that provide services, programs, and activities.  Title III of the Act 
applies to facilities owned, leased, or operated by private entities that 
accommodate the public. 

 
D. Age Discrimination Act of 1975: 

 
This Act (42 U.S.C. 6101 et seq.) provides that no person in the United 
States shall, on the basis of age, be excluded from participation in, be 
denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program 
or activity receiving federal financial assistance. 

  
E. Limited English Proficiency (LEP) under Executive Order 13166: 

 
 LEP statutes and authorities prohibit exclusion from participation in, denial of 

benefits of, and discrimination under Federally assisted and/or conducted 
programs on the ground of race, color, or national origin.  Title VI of the Civil 
Rights Act of 1964 covers program access for LEP persons.   

 LEP persons are individuals who do not speak English as their primary 
language and who have a limited ability to read, speak, write, or understand 
English.  These individuals may be entitled to language assistance, free of 
charge.  You must take reasonable steps to ensure that LEP persons 
receive the language assistance necessary to have meaningful access to 
USDA programs, services, and information your organization provides.  
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These protections are pursuant to Executive Order 13166 entitled, 
“Improving Access to Services by Persons with Limited English Proficiency” 
and further affirmed in the USDA Departmental Regulation 4330-005, 
“Prohibition Against National Origin Discrimination Affecting Persons with 
Limited English Proficiency in Programs and Activities Conducted by USDA.” 

 
 Agency financial programs must be extended without regard to race, color, 

religion, sex, national origin, marital status, age, or physical or mental 
handicap.  You must display posters (provided by the Agency) informing 
users of these requirements, and the Agency will monitor your compliance 
with these requirements during compliance reviews. 

 
20. Closing Instructions: 
 

The Office of General Counsel, our Regional Attorney, will be required to write closing 
instructions in connection with this loan.  Conditions listed therein must be met by the 
District. 

 
21. Compliance with Special Laws and Regulations: 
 

The District will be required to conform to any and all state and local laws and regulations 
affecting this type project. 

 
22. Treatment Plant and System Operator: 
 

The District is reminded that the water system operator must have an Operator's 
Certificate issued by the State. 
 

23. Prior to Pre-Closing the Loan, the District Will Be Required to Adopt: 
 

A. Form RUS Bulletin 1780-27, "Loan Resolution (Public Bodies)." 
 

B. Form RD 400-1, "Equal Opportunity Agreement." 
 

C. Form RD 400-4, "Assurance Agreement." 
 

D. Form AD-1047, "Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, and Other 
Responsibility Matters - Primary Covered Transaction." 

 
E. Form RD 1910-11, "Applicant Certification Federal Collection Policies for 

Consumer or Commercial Debts." 
 

F. RD Instruction 1940-Q, Exhibit A-1, "Certification for Contracts, Grants and 
Loans." 

 
G. RUS Bulletin 1780-22, “Eligibility Certification.” 

 
24. Refinancing and Graduation Requirements: 

 
The District is reminded that if at any time it shall appear to the Government that the 
District is able to refinance the amount of the RUS indebtedness then outstanding, in 
whole or in part, by obtaining a loan from commercial sources at reasonable rates and 
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terms, upon the request of the Government, the District will apply for and accept such loan 
in sufficient amount to repay the Government. 

 
25. Commercial Interim Financing: 
 

The District will be required to use commercial interim financing for the project during 
construction for the RUS loan portion of the financing, if available at reasonable rates and 
terms. 
 
Before the loan is closed, the District will be required to provide Rural Development with 
statements from the contractor, engineer and attorneys that they have been paid to date 
in accordance with their contract or other agreements and, in the case of the contractor, 
that he has paid his suppliers and sub-contractors. 

 
26. Disbursement of Project Funds: 

 
A construction account for the purpose of disbursement of project funds (RUS) will be 
established by the District prior to start of construction.  The position of officials entrusted 
with the receipt and disbursement of RUS project funds will be covered by a "Fidelity 
Bond," with USDA Rural Development as Co-Obligee, in the amount of construction funds 
on hand at any one time during the construction phase. 
 
For each “construction account” as established, if the amount of RUS loan and grant 
funds plus any applicant contributions or funds from other sources to be deposited into the 
account are expected to exceed $250,000 at any time, the financial institution will secure 
the amount in excess of $250,000 by pledging collateral with the Federal  
Reserve Bank in an amount not less than the excess in accordance with 7 CFR, 
1902.7(a). 
 
Agency funds will be disbursed into the construction account through an electronic 
transfer system.  The borrower should complete Form SF-3881, “Electronic Funds 
Transfer Payment Enrollment Form,” for each account where funds will be electronically 
received.  The completed form(s) must be received by Rural Development at least thirty 
(30) days prior to the first advance of funds. 

 
Monthly audits of the District's construction account records shall be made by Rural 
Development. 
 
Borrowers receiving federal loan and/or grant funds by EFT will have funds directly 
deposited to a specified account at a financial institution with funds being available to the 
recipient on the date of payment.   
 
Any applicant contribution will be the first funds expended, followed by other funding 
sources.  Interim financing or Agency loan funds will be expended after all other funding 
sources unless an agreement is reached with all other funding sources on how funds are 
to be disbursed prior to start of construction or loan closing, whichever occurs first.  
Interim financing funds or Agency loan funds must be used prior to the use of Agency 
grant funds.  The Grant funds must not be disbursed prior to loan funds except as 
specified in RUS Instruction 1780.45 (d).  In the unlikely event the Agency mistakenly 
disburses funds, the funds will be remitted back to the Agency electronically. 
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During construction, the District shall disburse project funds in a manner consistent with 
subsection 1780.76 (e) of RUS Instruction 1780.  Form RD 1924-18, "Partial Payment 
Estimate," or similar form approved by Rural Development, shall be used for the purpose 
of documenting periodic construction estimates, and shall be submitted to Rural 
Development for review and acceptance.  Prior to disbursement of funds by the District, 
the District Council shall review and approve each payment estimate.  All bills and 
vouchers must be approved by Rural Development prior to payment by the District.   
Form RD 440-11, "Estimate of Funds Needed for 30-Day Period Commencing _______," 
will be prepared by the District and submitted to Rural Development in order that a 
periodic advance of federal cash may be requested. 
 

27. Disbursement of Grant Funds: 
 

The RUS funds will be advanced as they are needed in the amount(s) necessary to cover 
the RUS proportionate share of obligations due and payable by the District.   
 
Grant funds are to be deposited in an interest-bearing account in accordance with 2 CFR 
part 200 and interest in excess of $500 per year remitted to the Agency.   
The funds should be disbursed by the recipient immediately upon receipt and there should 
be little interest accrual on the Federal funds.  Recipients shall maintain advances of 
Federal funds in interest-bearing account, unless: 
 
a. The recipient receives less than $120,000 in Federal awards per year. 

 
b. The best reasonably available interest-bearing account would not be expected to earn 

interest in excess of $500 per year on Federal cash balances. 
 

c. The depository would require an average or minimum balance so high that it would not 
be feasible within the expected Federal and non-Federal cash resources. 

 
d. A foreign government or banking system prohibits or precludes interest-bearing 

accounts. 
 
28. Project Budget: 

 
Estimated expenditures are as follows: 
 
Project Costs: 

 
Development $1,493,000 
Land and Rights 5,000 
Legal and Administrative 15,000 
Engineering Fees 224,000 
Interest 40,000 
Contingencies $   148,000 

 TOTAL PROJECT COST      $1,925,000 
 

 Project Funding: 
 

RUS Loan $1,221,000 
RUS Grant 204,000 
ARC Grant $   500,000 

 TOTAL FUNDING      $1,925,000 
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Any changes in funding sources following obligation of Agency funds must be reported to 
the processing official.  Project feasibility and funding will be reassessed if there is a 
significant change in project costs after bids are received.  If actual project costs exceed 
the project cost estimates, an additional contribution by the Owner may be necessary.  
Prior to advertisement for construction bids, you must provide evidence of applicant 
contributions and approval of other funding sources.  This evidence should include a copy 
of the commitment letter. Agency funds will not be used to pre-finance funds committed to 
the project from other sources. 
 
Obligated loan or grant funds not needed to complete the proposed project will be de-
obligated prior to start of construction.  Any reduction will be applied to grant funds first.  
An amended letter of conditions will be issued for any changes to the total project budget. 

 
29. Commitment of Other Project Funds: 
 

This Letter of Conditions is issued contingent upon a firm commitment being in effect prior 
to advertising for construction bids for the ARC grant in the amount of $500,000. 

 
30. Construction Completion Timeframe: 
 
 All projects are required to be completed and all funds disbursed within five years of 

obligation.  If funds are not disbursed within five years of obligation, you must submit a 
written waiver request with adequate justification of extenuating circumstances beyond 
your control for an extension of time.  Any additional requests for waivers beyond the 
initial extension will be submitted through the State Office to the Assistant Administrator 
for concurrence decision. 

 
31. Use of Remaining Project Funds: 
 

The applicant contribution shall be considered as the first funds expended. After providing 
for all authorized costs, any remaining project funds will be considered to be RUS/ARC 
grant funds and refunded in proportion to participation in the project.  If the amount of 
unused project funds exceeds the grants, that part would be RUS loan funds. 

 
32. Proposed Operating Budget: 
 

You will be required to submit to Rural Development a copy of your proposed annual 
operating budget that supports the proposed loan repayment prior to this agency giving 
you written authorization to proceed with the bidding phase.  The operating budget should 
be based on a typical year cash flow, subject to completion of this project in the first full 
year of operation.  Form RD 442-7, “Operating Budget,” or similar form may be utilized for 
this purpose. 
 

33. Rates and Charges: 
 

Rates and charges for facilities and services rendered by the District must be at least 
adequate to meet cost of maintaining, repairing and operating the water system and 
meeting required principal and interest payments and the required deposits to debt 
service and/or depreciation reserve. 
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Water rates will be at least: 
 
5/8" x 3/4" Meter  (Residential)   
First  1,000 Gallons @  $20.91  - Minimum Bill 
Next 2,000   $9.94   
Next 2,000   $8.15   
Next 5,000   $6.51   
Next 15,000   $5.86   
All Over 25,000 Gallons @  $5.53   
     
1" Meter  (Residential)   
First  3,000 Gallons @  $40.78  - Minimum Bill 
Next 2,000   $8.15   
Next 5,000   $6.51   
Next 15,000   $5.86   
All Over 25,000 Gallons @  $5.53   
     
1 1/2" Meter  (Residential)   
First  5,000 Gallons @  $57.09  - Minimum Bill 
Next 5,000   $6.51   
Next 15,000   $5.86   
All Over 25,000 Gallons @  $5.53   
     
2" Meter  (Residential)   
First  10,000 Gallons @  $89.62  - Minimum Bill 
Next 15,000   $5.86   
All Over 25,000 Gallons @  $5.53   
     
3" Meter  (Residential)   
First  15,000 Gallons @  $118.93  - Minimum Bill 
Next 10,000   $5.86   
All Over 25,000 Gallons @  $5.53   
     
4" Meter  (Residential)   
First  25,000 Gallons @  $177.56  - Minimum Bill 
All Over 25,000 Gallons @  $5.53 
 
Wholesale water rates will be @ $3.02 per 1,000 gallons. 
     

34. Water Purchase Contract: 
 

The District will submit a Water Purchase Contract for approval by Rural Development 
before advertising for construction bids.  If the contract is not on Form RD 442-30, “Water 
Purchase Contract,” the contract will require approval by our Regional Attorney.  The 
contract must meet the requirements of subsection 1780.62 of RUS Instruction 1780, 
which includes there must be 40 years left on the term of the water purchase contract. 
The contract term must match the term of the loan. 

 
35. Vulnerability Assessment/Emergency Response Plan (VA/ERP):   

 
The Agency requires all financed water and wastewater systems to have a VA/ERP in 
place.  Borrowers with existing systems must provide a certification that a VA/ERP has 
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been completed prior to advertising for bids.  The documents are not submitted to the 
Agency for VA/ERP requirements throughout the life of the loan. 
 

36. Floodplain Construction: 
 

The District will be required to pass and adopt a Resolution or amend its By-Laws 
whereby the District will deny any water service to any future customer wishing to build on 
or develop property located within a designated floodplain.  
 
If a customer or developer requests service for construction in a designated floodplain, the 
customer or developer must provide evidence and a justification for approval by the 
District and Rural Development officials that there are no other alternatives to construction 
or development within the designated floodplain.  The community must be a participant in 
the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP), and the customer or developer must obtain 
the required permits prior to the tap on restrictions being waived. 

 
37. Mitigation Measures: 
 

The project shall be in compliance with requirements as noted in the Governor's Office for 
Local Government (A-95) letter of January 24, 2021. 
 
The line design and construction shall be accomplished in a way that will leave the flood 
plains and wetlands unaffected after construction is completed.  The U.S. Corps of 
Engineer's Nationwide Permit 12 applies to all flood plain and utility line construction. 
 
Any excavation by the Contractor that uncovers or disturbs a historical or archaeological 
artifact shall be immediately reported to the Owner and a representative of this agency.  
Construction shall be halted pending the notification process and further directions issued 
by this agency after consultation with the State Historic Preservation Officer. 
 
The design and construction of the project shall be accomplished with all local, state, and 
federal statues, regulations, and permits in effect. 
 
Best Management Practices shall be incorporated into the project design, construction, 
and maintenance. 
 
Since all corridor construction will occur in the existing highway right-of-way, if a stream is 
encountered it will necessarily be directional bored.  Notify RD of any relocation of the line 
is anticipated for stream crossings. 
 
All requirements sated in the USFWS letter of February 16, 2021, shall be made a part of 
the project design, construction, and maintenance. 
 

38. System for Award Management: 
 
You will be required to maintain a Dun and Bradstreet Data Universal Numbering 
System (DUNS) number and maintain an active registration in the System for Award 
Management (SAM) database.  Renewal can be done on-line at: http://sam.gov.   
This registration must be renewed and revalidated every twelve (12) months for as 
long as there are Agency funds to be expended.   
 

  

http://sam.gov/
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To ensure the information is current, accurate and complete, and to prevent the 
SAM account expiration, the review and updates must be performed within 365 days 
of the activation date, commonly referred to as the expiration date.  The registration 
process may take up to 10 business days.  (See 2 CFR Part 25 and the “Help” 
section at http://sam.gov). 
 

39. Prepayment and Extra Payments: 
 
Prepayments of scheduled installments, or any portion thereof, may be made at any 
time at the option of borrower, with no penalty. 
 
Security instruments, including bonding documents, must contain the following 
language regarding extra payments, unless prohibited by State statute: 
 
 Prepayments of scheduled installments, or any portion thereof, may be 

made at any time at the option of the borrower.  Refunds, extra payments 
and loan proceeds obtained from outside sources for the purpose of paying 
down the Agency debt, shall, after payment of interest, be applied to the 
installments last to become due under this note and shall not affect the 
obligation of borrower to pay the remaining installments as scheduled in your 
security instruments. 

 
40. Security/Operational Inspections: 

 
The Agency will inspect the facility and conduct a review of your operations and 
records management system and conflict of interest policy every three years for the 
life of the loan.  You must participate in these inspections and provide the required 
information. 

 
41. American Iron and Steel: 
 

Section 746 of Title VII of the Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2017 (Division A - 
Agriculture, Rural Development, Food and Drug Administration, and Related Agencies 
Appropriations Act, 2017) applies a new American Iron and Steel requirement:  
 

(1) No Federal funds made available for this fiscal year for the rural water, 
wastewater, waste disposal, and solid waste management programs 
authorized by the Consolidated Farm and Rural Development Act (7 U.S.C. 
1926 et seq.) shall be used for a project for the construction, alteration, 
maintenance, or repair of a public water or wastewater system unless all of the 
iron and steel products used in the project are produced in the United States.  
 

(2) The term “iron and steel products” means the following products made 
primarily of iron or steel: lined or unlined pipes and fittings, manhole covers 
and other municipal castings, hydrants, tanks, flanges, pipe clamps and 
restraints, valves, structural steel, reinforced precast concrete, and 
construction materials.  

 
(3) The requirement shall not apply in any case or category of cases in which the 

Secretary of Agriculture (in this section referred to as the “Secretary”) or the 
designee of the Secretary finds that— a. applying the requirement would be 
inconsistent with the public interest; b. iron and steel products are not 
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produced in the United States in sufficient and   reasonably available quantities 
or of a satisfactory quality; or c. inclusion of iron and steel products produced 
in the United States will increase the cost of the overall project by more than 
25 percent.  

 
42. Final Approval Conditions: 
 

Final approval of this assistance will depend on your willingness, with the assistance of all 
your co-workers, to meet the conditions of this letter in an orderly and systematic manner. 
Then too, final approval will depend on funds being available. 
 

If you desire to proceed with your application, the Field Director will allot a reasonable portion of 
time to provide guidance in application processing. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
TRACI VAUGHT 
Acting State Director 
 
Enclosures 
 
cc: Field Director – Shelbyville, Kentucky 
 Field Specialist – Morehead, Kentucky 
 Bluegrass ADD – Lexington Kentucky 

Rubin & Hays  – Louisville, Kentucky 
Dawn Letcher – Carlisle, Kentucky 
Cherokee Willoughby, Bluegrass Engineering – Georgetown, Kentucky 
PSC – ATTN: Linda Bridwell – Frankfort, Kentucky 
 



 

Rural Development • Kentucky State Office 
771 Corporate Drive, Suite 200, Lexington, Kentucky 40503 

Voice (859) 224-7300 • Fax (859) 224-4748 • TTY (859) 224-7422 
 

USDA is an equal opportunity provider and employer. 
 

If you wish to file a Civil Rights program complaint of discrimination, complete the USDA Program Discrimination Complaint Form (PDF), found online at 
http://www.ascr.usda.gov/complaint_filing_cust.html, or at any USDA office, or call (866) 632-9992 to request the form. You may also write a letter 
containing all of the information requested in the form. Send your completed complaint form or letter to us by mail at U.S. Department of Agriculture, 
Director, Office of Adjudication, 1400 Independence Avenue, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20250-9410, by fax (202) 690-7442 or email at 
program.intake@usda.gov. 

September 21, 2021     
 
 
Mr. Silas Cleaver, Chairman 
Nicholas County Water District 
1639 Old Paris Road 
Carlisle, Kentucky 40311 
 

Re: Letter of Conditions Dated August 25, 2021 
 
 
Dear Mr. Cleaver: 
 
This letter shall serve as Amendment No. 1 to the Letter of Conditions dated August 25, 2021.  
The purpose of this amendment is to revise the rates and charges. 
 
Paragraph numbered “33” is revised to read as follows: 
 
“33.   Rates and Charges: 
 

Rates and charges for facilities and services rendered by the District must be at least 
adequate to meet cost of maintaining, repairing and operating the water system and 
meeting required principal and interest payments and the required deposits to debt 
service and/or depreciation reserve. 
 
Water rates will be at least: 
 
5/8" x 3/4" Meter  (Residential)   
First  1,000 Gallons @  $21.93  - Minimum Bill 
Next 2,000   $10.43  
Next 2,000   $  8.55   
Next 5,000   $  6.83   
Next 15,000   $  6.15   
All Over 25,000 Gallons @  $  5.81   
     
1" Meter  (Residential)   
First  3,000 Gallons @  $42.78  - Minimum Bill 
Next 2,000   $  8.55   
Next 5,000   $  6.83   
Next 15,000   $  6.15   
All Over 25,000 Gallons @  $  5.81    
     
1 1/2" Meter  (Residential)   
First  5,000 Gallons @  $59.88  - Minimum Bill 
Next 5,000   $  6.83   
Next 15,000   $  6.15   
All Over 25,000 Gallons @  $  5.81       
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2" Meter  (Residential)   
First  10,000 Gallons @  $94.01  - Minimum Bill 
Next 15,000   $  6.15   
All Over 25,000 Gallons @  $  5.81   
     
3" Meter  (Residential)   
First  15,000 Gallons @     $124.76  - Minimum Bill 
Next 10,000   $    6.15   
All Over 25,000 Gallons @  $    5.81  
     
4" Meter  (Residential)   
First  25,000 Gallons @  $186.26  - Minimum Bill 
All Over 25,000 Gallons @  $    5.81    
 
Wholesale water rates will be @ $3.02 per 1,000 gallons. 
 

All other provisions of the referenced Letter of Conditions remain in full force and unchanged. 
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
 
 
TRACI VAUGHT 
Acting State Director 
 
 
cc: Field Director – Shelbyville, Kentucky 
 Field Specialist – Morehead, Kentucky 
 Bluegrass ADD – Lexington Kentucky 

Rubin & Hays  – Louisville, Kentucky 
Dawn Letcher – Carlisle, Kentucky 
Cherokee Willoughby, Bluegrass Engineering – Georgetown, Kentucky 
PSC – ATTN: Linda Bridwell – Frankfort, Kentucky 

 



 

  

NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT 

 

CASE NO. 2021-00382 

 

Response to the City of Carlisle, Kentucky’s First Request for Information 

 

Question No. 4 

 

Responding Witness: Monica Pryor, Office Manager 

 

Q-4. Copy of Service Area map showing where NCWD sells retail or 

 wholesale. 

 

A-4. A map depicting Nicholas District’s service area is attached to this Response. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 





 

  

NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT 

 

CASE NO. 2021-00382 

 

Response to the City of Carlisle, Kentucky’s First Request for Information 

 

Question No. 5 

 

Responding Witness: Monica Pryor, Office Manager 

 

Q-5. List all other potable water suppliers serving or operating in service 

 map noted above, identifying where others so operating or serving. 

 

A-5. No other service provider serves or operates within Nicholas District’s 

 service area. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT 

 

CASE NO. 2021-00382 

 

Response to the City of Carlisle, Kentucky’s First Request for Information 

 

Question No. 6 

 

Responding Witness: Kirk Robinson, Distribution Operator 

 

Q-6. Provide the following data on each of the four (4) meters through  

 which the City serves NCWD: 

a. Make and manufacturer of each  

 meter; 

b. Serial number of meter; 

c. Date of manufacture; 

d. Date placed in service; 

e. Copies of any calibration tests performed 

 on any of the four (4)  meters; 

f. Copy of schedule of calibration testing and 

 regular maintenance servicing of four (4) 

 meters; 

g. Dates of servicing from 1 JAN 2019 to date; 

 

 

A-6. About two weeks ago, Nicholas District’s Distribution Operator started 

 compiling the information needed to answer this particular information 

 request.  Unfortunately, he has not yet finished compiling this information. 

 Last week’s inclement weather, repairing the water line breaks that occurred 

 late last week and again over the weekend of February 5, and dealing with 

 the unexpected interruption of the water supply from Carlisle has prevented 

 him from providing this information by today’s deadline.  It will be provided 

 as soon as possible. 

 

 

 



 

  

NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT 

 

CASE NO. 2021-00382 

 

Response to the City of Carlisle, Kentucky’s First Request for Information 

 

Question No. 7 

 

Responding Witness: Monica Pryor, Office Manager 

 

Q-7.  Detailed billing records for sales to Harrison County Water District                     

  from 1 JAN 2019 to date. 

 

A-7. Attached to this Response are the detailed billing records for sales from 

 Nicholas District to Harrison County Water Association, Inc. (the 

 “Harrison Water Association”) from January 1, 2019 through the present. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 









 

  

NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT 

 

CASE NO. 2021-00382 

 

Response to the City of Carlisle, Kentucky’s First Request for Information 

 

Question No. 8 

 

Responding Witness: Monica Pryor, Office Manager 

 

Q-8. Copies of initial application to the PSC for wholesale rate to 

 HCWD and any subsequent applications for adjustment in  NCWD 

 wholesale rate. 

 

A-8. Nicholas District is not aware of any application to the PSC for approval of 

 the wholesale rate that it charges the Harrison Water Association.  The Water 

 Purchase Contract between Nicholas District and Harrison Water 

 Association was submitted to the PSC in 2021 and was approved by the PSC 

 on July 1, 2021.  The approved Water Purchase Contract includes a 

 wholesale rate of $3.02 per 1,000 gallons. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

  

NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT 

 

CASE NO. 2021-00382 

 

Response to the City of Carlisle, Kentucky’s First Request for Information 

 

Question No. 9 

 

Responding Witness: Monica Pryor, Office Manager 

 

Q-9. Copies of any notification to Carlisle of intent to sell water from 

 Carlisle at wholesale to HCWD. 

 

A-9. To the best of Nicholas District’s knowledge, it never notified, nor was it 

 required to notify, Carlisle of its intent to provide wholesale water service to 

 the Harrison Water Association. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

  

NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT 

 

CASE NO. 2021-00382 

 

Response to the City of Carlisle, Kentucky’s First Request for Information 

 

Question No. 10 

 

Responding Witness: Monica Pryor, Office Manager 

 

Q-10. Record of any termination in service from any other wholesale 

 provider resulting in an increase in purchase of water from Carlisle and 

 reason for such termination from 1 JAN 2019 to date. 

 

A-10. None of Nicholas District’s wholesale water providers, except Carlisle, has 

 ever provided a termination notice to Nicholas District 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

  

NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT 

 

CASE NO. 2021-00382 

 

Response to the City of Carlisle, Kentucky’s First Request for Information 

 

Question No. 11 

 

Responding Witness: Monica Pryor, Office Manager 

 

Q-11. Schedule of salaries paid to board members of NCWD from 1 JAN     

 2019 to date, reflecting any changes. 

 

A-11. Each of Nicholas District’s commissioners receive $200 per month as 

 approved by the Nicholas Fiscal Court.  The amount has not been changed 

 by the Nicholas Fiscal Court for several years. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

  

NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT 

 

CASE NO. 2021-00382 

 

Response to the City of Carlisle, Kentucky’s First Request for Information 

 

Question No. 12 

 

Responding Witness: Monica Pryor, Office Manager 

 

Q-12. Copies of all correspondence, email traffic, or other written 

 communication between NCWD, its officers and employees, and 

 Nicholas County Judge Executive or Nicholas County fiscal Court from 

 1 JAN 2019 to date relating to service from City of Carlisle. 

 

A-12. To the best of our knowledge, there has not been any such correspondence 

 between Nicholas District, its officers, its commissioners, or its employees 

 concerning water service from Carlisle since January 1, 2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 1 

CARLISLE WATER PURCHASE CONTRACT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



RECEIVED 

AUG 1 9 1994 
KJ.3.c. 

RATES & RE!SEARCH ON. 

WATER PURCHASE CONTRACT .--_..--_---..--_--._.__l------_-- 

RECEIVED 

AUG 19 1994 

pu8LIC SERVICE 
COMMISSION 

This contract for the sale and purchase of water is entered 

into as of the as* day of I>rrzkRs tA 
\ 

I 1993, 

between the City of Carlisle, Nicholas County, Kentucky, City 

Hall, 107 Chestnut Street, Carlisle, Kentucky 40311, hereinafter 

referred to as the “Se1 1 er” and the Nicholas County Water 

District, P.O. Box 304, Carlisle, Kentucky 40311, hereinafter 
PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 

referred to as the “Purchaser”. 

WITNESSETH: 

OF KENTUCKY 
EFFECTIVE 

WHEREAS the Purchaser is organized and S&P iidk9,94 establishe 

the provisions of Chapter 74 of the Kentucky Revis!ySU TT %ei&!b~; 5:o’1* 

for the purpose of constructing and operating a 

distribution system serving water users within the area described 

in plans now on file in the office of the Purchaser, and to 

accomplish this purpose the Purchaser requires for its existing 

system, and will require for an extension thereto, a supply of 

treated water; and 

WHEREAS, the Seller owns and operates a water supply 

distribution system with a capacity currently capable of serving 

the present customers of the Seller’s system and the estimated 

number of water users to be served by the said Purchaser as shown 

in the plans of the existing system and the extension thereto, 

respectively, now on file in the office of the Purchaser, and 

WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 9 enacted on the 23J day 

of &-L-M!&t- I 199z, by the Seller, the sale of water to 

the Purchaser in accordance with the provisions of the said 



Resolution was approved, and the execution of this contract 

carrying out the said Resolution by the Mayor, and attested by 

the City Clerk, was duly authorized, and 

WHEREAS, by .&,.$7or~ of the 

of the Purchaser, enacted on the 21s day of 

199 3 , the purchase of water from the Seller in accordance with 

the terms set forth in the said was approved, ~~%IL&Io~ 

and the execution of this contract by the Chairman, and attested 

by the Secretary was duly authorized; 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the 

mutual agreements hereinafter set forth, 

It is the intent of the parties hereto that this Agreement 

shall supercede and replace all prior Agreements of the parties 

for the sale of water from City of Carlisle to Nicholas County 

Water District, and all sales after the effective date hereof 

shall be governed by the terms and conditions herein, as they may 

be modified from time to time by City Ordinances relating to 

rates for Outside City Customers, or by mutual written agreement. 

A. The Seller Agrees: 

1. Quality and Quantity. To furnish the Purchaser at the 

point of delivery hereinafter specified, during the term of this 

contract or any renewal or extension thereof, potable treated 

water meeting applicable purity standards of the Kentucky 

Division of Water Quality in such quantity as may be required by 
PUBLIC SEWCE COMMlSSlON 

the Purchaser not to exceed Four Million (4,000,OOO) gall6IXtiENT@&-Y 
EFFECTIVE 

P month. 

SEp 09 1994 



2. Points of Delivery and Pressure. That water will be 

furnished at a reasonably constant pressure, from existing main 

supplies, at points located, through meters sized, as follows: 

A. From a tap on the north side of Kentucky Highway #36 

across from the Deposit Bank, from a four (4”) inch supply main, 

through a two (2”) inch meter, at plus or minus (t/-) fifty-five 

(55) PSI. 

B. From a tap on the north side of Kentucky Highway #36 on 

the County Barn property, from a four (4”) inch supply main, 

through a four (4”) inch compound meter, at plus or minus w-1 

seventy-five (75) PSI. 

C. From a tap on the south side of Kentucky Highway #32 in 

P 
the Henryville neighborhood, east of Laytart’s Store, f ‘RWJ3 SET COMMISSION 

OFKENTUCKY 
(10”) inch supply main, through a six (6”) inch meter, at P~USFP@T~VE 

minus (t/-) thirty-two (32) PSI. 

D. From a tap at the end of High Street, on the rtv 
P~~@"dib867KA~5~j~, 

i&-B (1) of Billy Mack Gaunce, from a four (4”) inch supply main, lm3! 
F By, ,-;.;,“f; I :q,.,&. .c b-Y&[ 

a two (2”) inch turbine meter, at plus 01: minus (t/- ) f?~*~J:yl-:~‘~g~t 
._.A, 2-- 
.A$*;;5 ;o;sj 

(48) PSI. 

E. From a tap on the west side of Dorsey Road, serving the 

Concord Road area, from a four (4”) inch supply main, through a 

two (2”) turbine meter, at plus or minus (t/-) fifty-six (56) 

PSI l 

F. From a tap on the west side of Kentucky Highway #32 

“Old Paris Pike”, next to the Reno Runck farm, from a ten (10”) 

/-‘ inch supply main, which tap shall be ten (10’) inches by six (6’) 

inches, and which meter shall be four (4”) inches minimum to six 



. , 

/? (6”) inches maximum, at plus or minus w-1 seventy-five (75) 

PSI. 

If a greater pressure than that normally available at the points 

of delivery is required by the Purchaser, the cost of providing 

such greater pressure shall be borne by the Purchaser. Emergency 

failures of pressure or supply due to main suPP1 Y line breaks, 

power failure, flood, fire and use of water to fight fire, 

earthquake or other catastrophe shall excuse the Seller from this 

provision for such reasonable period of time as may be necessary 

to restore service. 

3, Billing Procedure. To furnish the Purchaser at the 

above address not later than the 10th day of each month, (or the 

first working day thereafter), with an itemized statement of 

/? amount of water furnished the Purchaser during 

month. 

B. The Purchaser Agrees: 

1. Metering Equipment, To furnish and 

meter pit and connection for its extension 

system, at its own expense at the new point of delivery in 2.F. 

above, including any required meter house or pit, and required 

devices of a standard type, which shall follow good and normal 

engineering principles, and which said design and installation 

shall be approved by the Seller and the Seller’s engineer and 

performed by the Purchaser. 

2. Operation and maintenance. Upon completion, testing, 

and acceptance by the Seller, Purchaser is to operate and /̂  
maintain at its own expense, all necessary connections, from the 



tapping valve and line, and metering equipment, including meter 

houses and pits , for properly measuring the quantity of water 

delivered to the Purchaser, at all points of delivery and to 

calibrate such metering eyui pmen t whenever requested by the 

Seller but not more frequently than once every twelve (12) 

months. A meter registering not more ,than two percent (2%) above 

or below the test result shall be deemed to be accurate. The 

previous readings of any meter disclosed by test to be inaccurate 

shall be corrected for the six (6) months previous to such test 

in accordance with the percentage of inaccuracy found by such 

tests I If any meter fails to register for any period, the amount 

of water furnished during such period shall be deemed to be the 

amount of water delivered in the corresponding period immediately 

prior to the failure, unless Seller and Purchaser shall agree 

upon a different amount. The metering equipment shall be read by 

the last of the month. An appropriate official of the Seller at 

all reasonable times shall have access to the meter for the 

purpose of verifying its readings. 

3. Outside City Rates and Payment Date. To pay the 

Seller, not later than than ten (10) working days following 

billing by Seller, for water delivered in accordance with the 

City of Carlisle Water rates for Outside City Users as 

established from time to time by Ordinance in the Code of 

Ordinances of the City, currently per the following schedule of 
PUBLlCSERVlCECOMMISSION 

rates: OFKENTUCKY 
EFFECTIVE 

SEP 09 1994 

PURSUANTTC807KAR5:011, 
SECTlON9(1) 



City Outside 

PUBLIC SERWCE COMMISSION 
OF KENTUCKY 

EFFECTIVE 

sfp 69 1994 

First 1,000 gallons $7.80 PURSUANT M 867 KAR 5iI.j 1 
Next 4,000 gal lons 2.08 
Next 5,000 gallons 2.02 
Next 5,000 gallons 1.69 
Next 10,000 gallons 1.56 
Next 25,000 gallons 1.30 
All over 50,000 gallons 1.24 
Industrial rate 1.30 

A penalty of ten (10%) percent of the amount due will be assessed 

and paid on all bills not paid in full within ten (10) working 

days in accordance with Ordinances of Seller. 

4. Connection Fee. No connection fee will need to be paid 

if the Water District or its contractors install all meter 

equipment and other needed materials and make all water main 

taps. If the City does any work for the Water District, it will 

be reimbursed at an agreed cost of labor and materials.furnished. 

C. It is further mutually agreed between the Seller and 
the Purchaser as follows: 

1. Term of Contract. That this contract shall extend for 

a term of forty (40) years from the date of the initial de1 ivery 

of any water as shown by the first bill submitted by the Seller 

to the Purchaser and, thereafter may be renewed or extended for 

such term, or terms, as may be agreed upon by the Seller and 

Purchaser. 

2. Delivery of Water. That thirty (30) days prior to the 

estimated date of completion of construction of the extension to 

Purchaser’s water supply distribution system, the Purchaser will 

notify the Seller in writing the date for the initial delivery of 

water. 



. 
3. Water for Testing. When requested by the Purchaser the 

Seller will make available to Purchaser’s contractor at the point 

of delivery, or other point reasonably close thereto, water 

sufficient for testing, flushing, and trench filling the system 

extension of the Purchaser durin.g construction, irrespective of 

whether the metering equipment has been installed at that time, 

at a flat charge per one thousand (1,000) gallons at the then 

current over fifty (50,000) thousand gallons 
r a t e {(i&c ~~ti~&MISSION 

City Users, which will be paid by the contractor or, 

failure to pay, by the Purchaser. 

4. Failure to Deliver. That the Seller 
wil 1 iFIt “9,!yJ 

WA&ANT TQ 807 KAR &611, 
times, operate and maintain its system in an efficient rna@@QN*g) 

wi 11 ,take such action as may be necessary to 

Purchaser with quantities of water required by the Purchaser. 

Temporary or partial failures to deliver water shall be remedied 

with all possible dispatch. In the event of an extended shortage 

of water, or the supply of water available to the Seller is 

otherwise diminished over an extended period of time, the supply 

of water to Purchaser’s consumers shall be reduced or diminished 

as set forth in the City of Carlisle Code of Ordinances. 

5 . Modification of Contract. That the provisions of this 

contract pertaining to the schedule of rates to be paid by the 

Purchaser for water delivered are subject to modification in 

accordance with the City of Carlisle Water Rates, as established 8 

from time to time by Ordinance of the City in its Code of 

n Ordinances. Any increase or decrease in rates shall be based on 

a demonstrable increase or decrease in the costs of production of 



finished water by Seller, which may include increased 

capitalization of the Seller’s syst.em based on improvments 

benefiting purchaser. Other provisions of the contract may be 

modified or altered by mutual agreement. 

6. Regulatory Agencies. That this contract is subject to 

such rules, regulations, or laws as may be applicable to similar 

agreements in t.his Stat.e and t 11 c Seller and purchaser will 

collaborate in obtaining such permits, certificates, or the like, 

as may be required to comply therewith. 

7. Miscellaneous. That the extension of its water supply 

distribution system by the purchaser is being financed by a 1 oan 

made or insured by, and/or a grant. from the United States of 

America, acting through the Farmers Home Administration of the 

United States Department of Agriculture, and the provisions 

hereof pertaining to the undertakings of the Purchaser regarding 

the extension to its system are conditioned upon the 
fV@WHkS &MISS,&J 

writing, of the State Director of the Farmer~&!“{@y 

Administration. 

8. Successor to the Purchaser. That in the event of any 
PtJRSUANTTO801 KAFl$fjj~, 

occurrence rendering the Purchaser incapable of performi&#ZT@N@?~)r . I 
i h..* 

,Q& Y 

this contract, any successor of the Purchaser, whet .a l-+“‘LL ~~ 
. . . ,f 

of legal process, assignment, or otherwise, shall succeed to the 

rights of the Purchaser hereunder. 

9. Conflicts of Law. This contract shall be construed in 

accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Kentucky. 

10. Modification. Except as to rates for water provided 

as set forth‘in Paragraph C. 5. above, this Contract shall not 



modified except in writing executed by both parties hereto. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto, acting under 

authority of their respective governing bodies, have caused this 

contract to be duly executed in four (4) counterparts, each of 

which shall constitute an original. 

Seller: City of Carlisle 

Title: Mayor 

Attest: 

Purchaser: 

PUBLlCSERWlCECOMMISS~ 
OF KENTUCKY 

EFFECTIVE 

Nicholas County Water 
District 

Title: Chairman 

Attest: 

This contract is approved on behalf of the Farmers Home 

Administration this ,the e@% ay of 6@JJ~~~~ , 1992. 
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WESTERN FLEMING WATER PURCHASE CONTRACT 
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Form RD 442-30 
(Rev. 1 O-96) UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE FORM APPROVED 

RURAL DEVELOPMENT OMB NO. 0.575CO 15 
A \ 

WATER PURCHASE CONTRACT 

This contract for the s 

a00 v 
w -7 between the 

hereinafter referred to as the “‘Seller” and the 

- 

hereinafter referred to as the “Purchaser”, 
(Address) 

WITNESSETH: 

Whereas, the Purchaser is organized and established under the provisions of o’f77kj 7/;c of the 

Codeof 5 .[&I, ;sed s fi6fi.c , for the purpose of constructing and operating a water supply distribution 
system servin water users within the area described in plans now on file in the office of the Purchaser and to accomplish this purpose, 
the Purchaser will require a supply of treated water, and 

Whereas, the Selier owns and operates a water supply distribution system with a capacity currently capable of serving the present 
customers of the Seller’s system and the estimated number of water users to be served by the said Purchaser as shown in the plans of the 

- system now on tile in the office of the Purchaser, and 

Whereas, by /@Y&& ??,A) No. 2 7 enacted on the day of Sk&- 
. 

/? 
I 

by the Seller, the sale of water to the Purchaser in accordance with the provisions of the said I 

was approved, and the,execution of this contract carrying out the said 
b 

7JbJ5-w %h-cuww l.eLL- 
.I , and attested by the Secretary, was duly authorized, and 

Whereas, by 

enacted on the day of 

of the of the Purchaser, 
. 

, 19 - 9 the purchase of water from the Seller 

in accordance with the terms set forth in the said was?@& 

contract by the 8 * I and attested by the Secretary was dul j%&&%d; 

Now. therefore, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual agreements hereinafter set forth, NQV 3 8 2000 6 

A. The Seller A~w%: fJ-R’WWT TO 807 KAR CXOI I, ,.I~ SECflON Q lq\ 
1, (Quality and Quantity) To furnish the Purchaser at the point of delivery hereinafter speci&d, $t&@@m 

anv renewal or extension thereof, potable treated water meeting applicable purity 2 

in such quantity as may be required by the Purchaser not to exceed 3Agallons per month. . 



2. (Point of Delivery and Pressure) That water will be furnished at a reasonably constant pressure calculated at 

IS*0 PST’ - from an existing 6%LiV inch main supply at a point located ,? 

If a greater pressure than dn at normally available at the point of delivery is required by the Purchaser, the cost of providing such greater 
pressure shall be borne by the Purchaser. Emergency failures of pressure or supply due to main supply line breaks, power failure, flood, 
fire and use of water to fight fire, earthquake or other catastrophe shall excuse the Seller from this provision for such reasonable period 
of time as may be necessary to restore service. 

3. (Metering Equipment) To furnish, install, operate, and maintain at its own expense at point of delivery, the necessary metering 
equipment, including a meter house or pit, and required devices of standard type for properly measuring the quantity of water delivered 
to the Purchaser and to calibrate such metering equipment whenever requested by the Purchaser but not more frequently than once every 
twelve (12) months. A meter registering not more than two percent (2%) above or below the test result shall be deemed to be accurate. 

The previous readings of any meter disclosed by test to be inaccurate shall be corrected for the 6 Ha months 
previous to such test in accordance with the percentage of inaccuracy found by such tests. If any meter fails to register for any period, the 
amount of water furnished during’stich @riod shall be deemed to be the amount of water delivered in the corresponding period immediately 
prior to the failure, unless Seller.and Purchaser shall agree upon a different amount. The metering equipment shall be read on 

la~~x3 . An appropriate official of the Purchaser at all reasonable times shall have access to 
the meter for the pu 

4. (Billing Procedu&) TA funiish the Purchaser at the above address not later than the day of each month, 
with an itemized statement of the amount of water furnished the Purchaser during the preceding month. 

.I 

B. The Purch’aser Agrees: 
tk 

1. (Rates and Payment Date) To pay the Seller, not later than the 2 b day of each month, for water delivered in 
,,-, accordance with the follo&ng schedule of rates: 

a. $ /‘,s v”‘forthefirst ‘/oO o gallons, which amount shall also be the minimum rate per month. 
i,. : ‘. ,, ,.,;,!..,:i; (,I,:’ 

b. $ /, 3’s ’ cents per 1000 gallons for wate?ir&xcess of gallons but less than gallons. 

c. $ i%38/ _ cents peY 1000 gallons for water in excess of gallons. 
‘h.’ I. 

0 

“!<I, ,’ : \’ r ~> 
,’ 

. 

i : ’ PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 
OFKENTUCKY 

EFFECTIVE 

2. (Connection Fee) To pay as an agreed cost, a connection fee to connec; the Seller’s syste: with the system of the Purchaser, 
A 

the sum of dollars which shall cover any and all costs of the Seller for installation of the metering equipment 

and 



C. iiJ It is further mutually agreed between t e Seller and the Purchaser as follows: d 

1. (Term of Contract) That this contract shall extend for a term of &o years from the date of the initial delivery of any 
water as shown by the first bill submitted by the Seller to the Purchaser and, thereafter may be renewed or extended for such term, or 

/1 -IS, as may be agreed upon by the Seller and Purchaser. 8 

2. (Delivery of Water) That L-5 days prior to the estimated date of completion of construction of the Purchaser’s water 
supply distribution system, the Purchaser will notify the Seller in writing the date for the initial delivery of water. 

3. (Water for Testing) When requested by the Purchaser the Seller will make available to the contractor at the point of delivery, or 
other point reasonably close thereto, water sufficient for testing, flushing, and trench filling the system of the Purchaser during construction, 

irrespective of whether the metering equipment has been installed at that time, at a flat charge of $ 
will be paid by the contractor or, on his failure to pay, by the Purchaser.. 

which 

4. (Failure to Deliver) That the Seller will, at all times, operate and maintain its system in an efficient manner and will take such 
action as may be necessary to furnish the Purchaser with quantities of water required by the Purchaser. Temporary or partial failures to 
deliver water shall be remedied with all possible dispatch, In the event of an extended shortage of water, or the supply of water available 
to the Seller is otherwise diminished over an extended period of time, the supply of water to Purchaser’s consumers shall be reduced or 
diminished in the same ratio or pro,nortion as the supply to Seller’s consumers is reduced or diminished. 

5. (Modification of Contract) That the provisions of this contract pertaining to the schedule of rates to be paid by the Purchaser for 

water delivered are subject to modification at the end of every 3 year period. Any increase or decrease in rates shall be based 
on a demonstrable increase or decrease in the costs of performance hereunder, but such costs shall not include increased capitalization of 
the Seller’s system. Other provisions of this contract may be modified or altered by mutual agreement. 

6. (Regulatory Agencies) That this contract is subject to such rules, regulations, or laws as may be applicable to similar agreements 
in this State and the Seller and Purchaser will collaborate in obtaining such permits, certificates, or the like, as may be required to 

,emply therewith. 

7. (Miscellaneous) That the construction of the water supply distribution system by the Purchaser is being financed by a loan made 
or insured by, and/or a grant from, the United States of America, acting through Rural Development of the United States Department of 
Agriculture, and the provisions hereof pertaining to the undertakings of the Purchaser are conditioned upon the approval, in writing, of 
the State Director of Rural Development. 

8. (Successor to the Purchasefi) That in the event of any occurrence rendering the Purchaser incapable of performing under this 
contract, any successor of the Purchaser, whether the result of legal process, assignment, or otherwise, shall succeed to the rights of the 

Purchaser hereunder. 
:, . 



In witness whereof, the parties hereto, acting under authority of their respective governing bodies, have caused this contract to be duly 

executed in 3 [J$&-..,,! counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original. 

/? 

Purchaser: 

Attest: 

,-~This contract is approved on behalf of Rural Development this day of 

19 _-’ 

Title 

* U.S. GPU:1997-555-806 



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 1 

BUFFALO TRAIL WATER PURCHASE CONTRACT 
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Position 5 

IJMTED STATES DEPARTNENT OF AGRICULTURE 
RURALDIWWWMENT 

FORM APPROVED 
OMBNO. 05754OlS 

WATER PURCHASE CONTRACT 

merest, the S&X owns and opem@s a water supply distribution system with a capacity cumently capable of serving the present 
customers of tht $&t’s system and&t cstimawd number of water users to be served by the said Ptvzrchriscr aa shown in the pIans of the 
symm now Ott at in bbe dllce of die purcbasez; aqd 

Whereas, by Resolution No. anawclonthe First day of July ,199L, 

by the Seller, the sale tif water to the Purcbeser in accotdurce with the pro&&a of the said Agreemeat 

was sqqmvtd, rind thqe~~ectttjon of this contract cq&q out the said Condlrione by the 

Buffalo Trail Uater Assoc. , and attested by the Seentary, was duly cruthorized, and 

whet~~, by Resolution oftfreNicholati County- Water Dbtrfct - Board of-tit arg 
e&.A.& “rBr&. ,*,. 

day of June ,19 97 ,thepurcltaseof~fromtheScller 

htaccorhcewiththetumssetfoxthintbe8aid Apmuent WBS approved, and the execution of this 

c,,,,Qact bhe Nichelee County Water Dirtxict , and &e&d by fhe Scwtary was duly~quthorized; 

1 a (Quality and Quantity) To fbrniah the &&aeer attipoint ofdelivetyh spsified, duringthe term otthis -tract be 

any renewal or extension thereof, potabte treated water meeting applicable purity standards of t.beKcn~uckY Natural 

!4&ources and En~iranmental Protectian Cabinet, Division of Water 

ia &;r. (;;;8;lriry&ay & &q&&y &g-m & tg md 800,000 gallons per month. 
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C 

r 

2. (Point of Delivery and pressure) That water will be furnished at a reasonably constant Pressure calculated at 

180 PSI from an existing 6” (six 5nch) inch main supply LI a point located 

at PRV Vault Eaet of SR 165 

If R greater pressure than that normally available at the point of delivery is required by the Purchaser, th.e cost of providing such greater 
pressure shall be ttcme by the Purctmer. Bmmgency failures of pressure w supply due to main supply lrne breaks. power fatlum, floo& 
fire and use of water to &ht fire. carthqualce or other catastrophe shall excuse the Seller From this provision for such m-able period 
oftimeasmaybe ruxm.&y to re6tore &ice. 

3. “e “Purchaser’,‘:; Tofwnm, install .I at its ovvn expense at point of delivcty, the ntdessq metqing 
equipme& including a mctcr tmusc or pit, and mquhed devka of scurdptd rypS for prOMy mtasuring tht quultity of water dGverecl 
tofilcmmha6er* The “Sellar” to operate and maintain at ite & exjpeme the-me&%$ 

eqtifpment and to calibrate such metering equipment whenever requested by the ’ 
“Purchasar~’ but not mope frequent19 than once every twelve (12) months. A meter -.~~ 4 
registerfng not more than .two percent (2%) above or below .the test result shall .be 
deemed to be accurate. 

Thp:pre~iwrS~of#y~~l~by~t~bc~sha~be~fcn:dtt~mOnr\S 
prtvicws to such test in acxmhce with tfie 'mge of inaccuracy found ly such tests. If arry meter fails to register for any period. the 
amount of water furnished during such p&d shall be deemed to be the amount of watcxdelivered in&e corresponding prsiod immediately 
prior to the failure, unless S&r and Pur&ser shall agfce upon L dierent amount. The metering quipmont shall be read on 

P- 
with an itemized stqnent of the nmount of wpt# furnished the Purchaser du&g the preceding month. 

B. w: 

1 
1. (Rates uld payrruent L&e) To pay the S&r, not la&r th8n the 20th day of each month. for water delivered in 

-tiththefouowhlgscheduleofRta; 
i 

i 

PUBLlCSERVlCECOMhilSSlON 
OFKENTUCKY 

aa s 1.35 cents per 1~ few EFFECTIVE 

2. me Purchaser will pay all coMe of ~n~t~l~ati~n8 n 0 connect to 
Seller System, -@6807KAR50,,, 

SECTlON9(1) 
BY: @$kb& &uj 

SECRETARY OF THE COMMlSSlON 

i 
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C. lLiSfufther fn j 8 r WI 

1, (Terry of Contract) That this contract Wll extend ford term of u_Ifdrtp)years from the date of the initial delivery oi any 
water 8s shown by the tint hill submitted by the Seller to the Furchaser and, thereafter may be renewed or extended Far such term, or 
tonns. as may be agreed uporl by the Seller and Purchaser. 

2. (Delivery of Water) That IS days prior to the estimated date of completion of construction of the Purchaser’s water 
supply distribution system. the Purchaser will nrNify the Seller in writing the date for the initial delivery of water. 

3. (Water for Testing) When wquested by the hrrchaser the Seller will make available to the contractor at the point of delivery, or 
other point reasonably close thereto, water suffkbnt for testing, flushing, and trench filling the system of the Purchaser during construction. 

irrespeclive of whet&r the metering equipment has been installad at that time, at a fiat elutrge of $ m CKKl P_m which 

will be paid by the contractor or, cm his f&m!! to ptty, by the puschpr. 

4. (Failure to Deliver) ‘That the Seller will. at all times, aperate and maintain its system in an cff&nt manner and will take such 
atitioti as may bc necessary to furnish the Purchaser with quantities of water required by the Purchaser. Temporary or panial failures to 
deliver water shall he remedied with ai1 possible dispatch. in the event-of an extended shortage of water, or the supply of water available 
to the Seller is otherwise diminished over an ext&ed period of time. the supply of water to Purchaser’s consumers shall be reduced or 
diminished in the srune ratio or proportion as the slrpply to Sclhx’s consumers C reduced or diminished. 

* 5. (Modification of Contractj That the provisions of this con&act pertaining to the schedrrle of rates to be paid by the Putchaser for 

water delivered are subject to modification @f the end of every J-&&&- yCar period. tiy incK?aSe Or decrease in rates shall be based 
on a demonstrable increase or decrease in the costs of perfomxmce hereunder, but such costs shall not include increased capitalizadon of 
the Seller’s system. Other @visions of this contrad may be modifM or altered by mutual agreement. 

6. (Regulatory Agencies) That this contract is subject to such rules, regulations, or laws as may be applicable to similar agreements 
in this State and the Sells md Purchaser will collabmate in obtainifig such penniu, certificates. or the like, as may be required KI 

- comply Iherewith. 

7. (Miscellaneous) That the construction of the water supply distribution system by the Purchaser is being financed by a loan made 
or insured by, and/or a grant from, the United States of America, acting throough Rural Development of the United States Department of 
Agricuirure. and the provisions hereof pertaining to the undertakings of the Purchaser are conditioned upon the approval, in writing, of 
the State Director of Rural Development. 

8. {Successor to the Purchaser} That in the event of any oczum~ce rendering tbsPurchluet incapable of performing under this 
conrract. arly successor of the Pnrchascr, whether the tcleull of legal process. assignment, or otherwise, shaI1 succeed to the rights of the 
Purchaser hereunder. .-, ,.(.U 

PUSLICSERVICECOMMISSION 
OFKENTUCKY 

EFFECTIVE 

FEB 19 1998 
. ._ _ - . ,, . PUWSljANTTOf337 KAR5Dll. 

_*. 



01/20/1998 10: 44 606-763-6516 BUFFALO TRNL WATER PAGE 05 

* 
ln witness whsl;reof, the psrtics hereto, acting under authority of their respective governing bodies, have caused this contract to be duly 

executedin 3 4-1 counterparts, cwh of which shall ccmstitute an original. 

P 

!?dW Buffalo Trail Water As$c~ial:io~, Inc. 

. 

Title Chairman 

This cmract is approved on behalf of Rural Development this day of * 
“e-- 

19-. 

hl 
OFKENTUCKY 

EFFECTIVE 

FEE! 19 1998 

PURSUANTTO807KAR5:011, 
SECTION 9(l) 

BY: s&-o h 
SE(XETARY~OF THE COMMISWN 

* U.S. opo:law- 
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RESOLUTION 

Jn order to provide public water supply sewbe to Nichohe County Water District, and to cosnp~ 
v&h FmJ3A (RID) gnideliws, it is kreby mwhed that the BufFkb Tmil Water iissociation mter 
idto a Water Ptxrchaw Conmti with the Nicholas Comvty Water Elktfict. The Water purohisb 
Contract is rttmhed to thb m&ution md rdoptedlrpprmd thk && day of J&y, 1997. 

PUBLIC SERVICECOMMISSION 
OFKENTUCKY 

EFFECTIVE 

FEB 19 1998 

PUfiSUANTT0807KAR5011. 
SEC-flON9~1~ 

.  I  

BY: %bd lkcp 
SECREfAAYOFTWECOMM!SSIOM 



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 2 

 

2020 AUDIT FOR NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT 
Carlisle, Kentucky 

_______ 
 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2020 and 2019  



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 C O N T E N T S 
 
 
 
 
 
Independent Auditors' Report .................................................................................................................... 1-2 
 
Financial Statements 
 

Statements of Net Position ....................................................................................................................... 3 
 

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position .......................................................... 4 
 

Statements of Cash Flows ........................................................................................................................ 5 
 

Notes to Financial Statements ............................................................................................................. 6-18 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 

Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability .................................................................................... 19 
 
Contributions - Pension .......................................................................................................................... 20 
 
Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability ....................................................................................... 21 
 
Contributions - OPEB ............................................................................................................................. 22 
 
Notes to Required Supplementary Information ................................................................................. 23-24 

 
Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control over 
  Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters  
  Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed  
  In Accordance with Government Auditing Standards .......................................................................... 25-28 
 



 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT  

The Board of Commissioners 
Nicholas County Water District 
Carlisle, Kentucky 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Nicholas County Water District (the District),  
as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of 
contents.  

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted 
our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the Nicholas County Water District, as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and 
the respective changes in financial position, and cash flows  thereof  for the years then ended in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  

Members American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
and Kentucky Society of Certified Public Accountants 

RFH, PLLC •  300 West Vine Street, Suite 800  •  Lexington, Kentucky 40507-1812 
Phone: 859-231-1800  •  Fax: 859-422-1800  •                  www.rfhcpas.com
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Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information  

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the pension and 
OPEB schedules on pages 19-22 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such 
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the 
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied 
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our 
audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the 
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion 
or provide any assurance. 

Management has omitted the Management Discussion and Analysis that accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires to be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements.  Such missing information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by 
the GASB, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial 
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  Our opinion on the basic financial 
statements is not affected by this missing information. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards  

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 25, 2021, 
on our consideration of the District’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. 
The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Nicholas County Water District’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report 
is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering 
the District’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.  

 
 
RFH, PLLC 
Lexington, Kentucky 
March 25, 2021 

 



NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT
STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION

December 31,
______

2020 2019
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 99,879$              164,934$            
Customer accounts receivable, net 50,992                54,060                
Inventory 6,921                  17,543                

Prepaid expense 2,174                  2,152                  

Total current assets 159,966              238,689              

Restricted assets
Cash and cash equivalents 84,876                62,371                

Capital assets
Property, plant and equipment 8,943,391           8,937,731           
Less: accumulated depreciation (4,369,032)          (4,166,539)          

Total capital assets 4,574,359           4,771,192           

Total assets 4,819,201           5,072,252           

Deferred outflows - pension 48,253                61,110                
Deferred outflows - OPEB 50,106                30,703                

Total deferred outflows of resources 98,359                91,813                

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 4,917,560$         5,164,065$         

Current liabilities
Accounts payable 59,345$              29,760$              
Accrued liabilities 8,493                  7,033                  
Customer deposits 38,670                37,150                
Accrued interest payable 10,543                10,239                
Current portion of long-term debt 103,500              98,000                

Total current liabilities 220,551              182,182              

Noncurrent liabilities
Net pension liability 364,321              345,463              
Net OPEB liability 114,674              82,601                
Bonds and notes payable, net of current portion 2,160,500           2,264,000           

Total noncurrent liabilities 2,639,495           2,692,064           

Total liabilities 2,860,046           2,874,246           

Deferred inflows - pension 7,696                  12,700                
Deferred inflows - OPEB 24,039                31,610                

Total deferred inflows of resources 31,735                44,310                

Net investment in capital assets 2,310,359           2,409,192           
Restricted 84,876                62,371                
Unrestricted (369,456)             (226,054)             

Total net position 2,025,779           2,245,509           

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and net position 4,917,560$         5,164,065$         

LIABILITIES 

ASSETS

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

NET POSITION

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of the financial statements.
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NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT
STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

for the years ended December 31,
______

2020 2019
OPERATING INCOME

Water sales 715,847$          678,820$          
Other revenue -                        1,556                

Total operating income 715,847            680,376            

 
OPERATING EXPENSES

Water purchases 257,522            238,078            
Wages and benefits 250,248            255,191            
Professional fees 8,500                29,995              
Insurance 15,344              17,835              
Contract labor 22,355              22,791              
Computer services 5,309                14,401              
Utilities 31,184              27,728              
General and administrative 61,429              52,534              

Total operating expense 651,891            658,553            

Operating income before depreciation 63,956              21,823              

Depreciation expense (202,493)           (203,854)           

OPERATING (LOSS) (138,537)           (182,031)           

Non-operating income (expense)
Interest income 825                   1,634                
Interest expense (82,018)             (82,517)             

Total non-operating income (expense) (81,193)             (80,883)             

(LOSS) BEFORE CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS (219,730)           (262,914)           

Capital contributions
Grants -                        7,620                

Change in net position (219,730)           (255,294)           

Net position, beginning of year 2,245,509         2,500,803         

NET POSITION, END OF YEAR 2,025,779$       2,245,509$       

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of the financial statements.
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NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
for the years ended December 31,

______

2020 2019
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers 718,915$         680,939$         
Payments to suppliers (358,478)          (407,970)          
Payments for employee services and benefits (218,438)          (202,504)          

Net cash provided by operating activities 141,999           70,465             

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Retirement of debt principal (98,000)            (97,500)            
Interest paid (81,714)            (81,821)            
Purchase of capital assets (5,660)              (19,822)            
Grants -                       7,620               

(185,374)          (191,523)          

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest income 825                  1,634               

Net cash provided by investing activities 825                  1,634               

NET (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (42,550)            (119,424)          

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 227,305           346,729           

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR 184,755$         227,305$         

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash
provided by operating activities:

Operating income (loss) (138,537)$        (182,031)$        
Noncash items included in operating income:

Depreciation 202,493           203,854           
Net changes in pension liability 26,711             34,886             
Net changes in OPEB liability 5,099               688                  
Changes in assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in accounts receivables 3,068               3,636               
(Increase) decrease in inventory 10,622             (144)                 
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expense (22)                   (755)                 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 29,585             7,303               
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities 1,460               (2,727)              

1,520               5,755               
 

Net cash provided by operating activities 141,999$         70,465$           

Components of cash on the Statement of Net Position
Cash and cash equivalents 99,879$           164,934$         
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 84,876             62,371             

184,755$         227,305$         

Increase (decrease) in customer deposits

Net cash (used in) capital and related financing activities

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of the financial statements.
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NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

December 31, 2020 and 2019 
_______ 
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1.   ORGANIZATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The Nicholas County Water District (the District) was created and organized as a public body incorporated 
in Nicholas County, Kentucky, pursuant to Chapter 74 of the Kentucky Revised Statutes.  The District 
began operations in 1966. 
 
Reporting Entity 

 
The Nicholas County Water District's financial statements include the operations of all entities for which 
the District exercises oversight responsibility.  Oversight responsibility includes, but is not limited to, 
financial interdependency, selection of the governing authority, designation of management, ability to 
significantly influence operations, and accountability for fiscal matters.   
 
There are no other entities that are subject to the District's oversight responsibility as indicated above. 
 
Basis of Accounting 
 
The accrual basis of accounting is utilized by the District. Under this method, revenues are recognized 
when earned and expenses are recognized when incurred.  
 
The District reports all revenues and expenses as operating, except interest income, interest expense, 
amortization, gains and losses on disposal of assets, and capital contributions. 

 
The net position of the District is classified into three categories; net investment in capital assets, 
restricted and unrestricted.  The restricted net assets consist of reserves for bond retirement and 
depreciation costs relating to the construction, replacement, extension, additions and/or improvements to 
the system in addition to customer deposits.   
 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, the District’s Board of 
Commissioners makes a determination as to which resource should be used first. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the District defines cash as cash on hand, cash in bank, 
money market funds in both unrestricted and restricted accounts, and certificates of deposit with an initial 
maturity of less than 90 days. 

 
Accounts Receivable 
 
The District's accounts receivable reserve represents its estimate of all uncollectible accounts. The 
reserve at December 31, 2020 and 2019, totaled $15,000 and $0, respectively. 
 
Inventory 
 
The District’s inventory is composed of chemicals, equipment and supply-type items used for routine 
maintenance, repairs and new water lines. The inventory is stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out 
method) or market. 
 
Capital Assets 
 
Capital assets are recorded at cost.  Depreciation has been provided using the straight-line method over 
the estimated useful life of the asset, which ranges from 7 - 62.5 years.  Land and land rights are not 
subject to depreciation.   
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1.   ORGANIZATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Pensions 
 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the 
County Employees’ Retirement System (CERS) and additions to/deductions from CERS’ fiduciary net 
position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by CERS. For this purpose, 
benefit payments, (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in 
accordance with benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 
 
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB) 
 
For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the County 
Employees’ Retirement System (CERS) and additions to/deductions from CERS’ fiduciary net position 
have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by CERS.  For this purpose, benefit 
payments, including refunds of employee contributions, are recognized when due and payable in 
accordance with benefit terms.  Investments are reported at fair value. 
 
Estimates 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period.  Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 
 
Management’s Review of Subsequent Events 
 
The District has evaluated and considered the need to recognize or disclose subsequent events through 
March 25, 2021, which represents the date that these financial statements were available to be issued.  
Subsequent events past this date, as they pertain to the year ended December 31, 2020, have not been 
evaluated by the District. 
 

2.   CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

KRS 66.480 authorizes the District to invest in the following, including but not limited to, obligations of the 
United States and of its agencies and instrumentalities, obligations and contracts for future delivery or 
purchase of obligations backed by the full faith and credit of the United States, obligations of any 
corporation of the United States government, bonds or certificates of indebtedness of this state, and 
certificates of deposit issued by or other interest-bearing accounts of any bank or savings and loan 
institution which have a physical presence in Kentucky and are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation (FDIC) or which are collateralized, to the extent uninsured, by any obligation permitted by 
KRS 41.240(4). The Statute also authorizes investment in mutual funds, exchange traded funds, 
individual equity securities and high-quality corporate bonds that are managed by a professional 
investment manager and subject to additional requirements outlined in KRS 66.480.   
 
Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the District will not be 
able to recover the value of the investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside 
party. In order to anticipate market changes and provide a level of security for all funds, the 
collateralization level shall be one hundred percent of the market value of the principal, plus accrued 
interest. 

 
The District’s deposits at December 31, 2020 and 2019, were entirely covered by Federal Depository 
Insurance. 
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3.  CAPITAL ASSETS 
 

The following is a summary of capital asset activity during the year ended December 31, 2020: 
 

 Balance   Balance 
 12/31/2019 Additions Disposals 12/31/2020 

 
Capital assets not depreciated:  
   Land $      20,997 $                - $               - $      20,997 
          
Totals         20,997                   -                   -         20,997 
 
Capital assets being depreciated: 
   Distribution lines 8,554,101 - - 8,554,101 
   Building and improvements 185,553 5,660 - 191,213 
   Equipment      177,080                   -                   -       177,080 
  
Totals 8,916,734      5,660                          -          8,922,394 
Less: accumulated depreciation    4,166,539       202,493                   -    4,369,032 
   
Depreciable assets, net    4,750,195      (196,833)                   -    4,553,362 
 
Total capital assets, net $ 4,771,192 $   (196,833) $                -  $ 4,574,359 
 
The following is a summary of capital asset activity during the year ended December 31, 2019: 

 
 Balance   Balance 
 12/31/2018 Additions Disposals 12/31/2019 

 
Capital assets not depreciated:  
   Land $      20,997 $                - $               - $      20,997 
          
Totals         20,997                   -                   -         20,997 
 
Capital assets being depreciated: 
   Distribution lines 8,534,219 19,882 - 8,554,101 
   Building and improvements 185,553 - - 185,553 
   Equipment      177,080                   -                   -       177,080 
  
Totals 8,896,852      19,882                          -          8,916,734 
Less: accumulated depreciation    3,962,685       203,854                   -    4,166,539 
   
Depreciable assets, net    4,934,167      (183,972)                   -    4,750,195 
 
Total capital assets, net $ 4,955,164 $   (183,972) $                -  $ 4,771,192 
 
Depreciation expense totaled $202,493 and $203,854 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, 
respectively. 
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4.  LONG-TERM DEBT  
 

The following is a summary of the bonds and notes outstanding for the District for the year ended 
December 31: 

          
 Bonds and Notes  2020 2019   

 

 Kentucky Rural Water Finance Corp. Bond - 
 $1,775,000, dated 5/12/15 with payments 
  through 2040, bearing interest at 2.10 - 4.10%             $  1,480,000 $    1,545,000 
  

Kentucky Infrastructure Authority Loan -  
 $185,000 dated 5/12/15 with payments 
  through 2025, bearing interest at 2.10 - 4.10%.           100,000 120,000 
  

USDA, Rural Development Bond - $203,000, 
with payments through 2044, 

 bearing interest at 4.125%       164,000 168,000 
 

USDA, Rural Development Bond - $555,000, 
with payments through 2054, 

 bearing interest at a rate of 2.75%.         520,000           529,000 
 
 Totals  2,264,000 2,362,000 
 Less: current portion of debt        (103,500)           (98,000) 
  
 Long-term debt   $  2,160,500    $    2,264,000 

 
The annual requirements to amortize bonds outstanding as of December 31, 2020 are as follows: 

 
Year Ending  Principle  Interest  Payment 

December 31,       
       

2021   $              90,000    $           57,910    $          147,910  
2022                   90,000                 54,220                144,220  
2023                   95,000                 50,428                145,428  
2024                   95,000                 46,533                141,533  
2025                 100,000                 43,035                143,035  

2026-2030                 435,000               172,982                607,982  
2031-2035                 450,000                 87,783                537,783  
2036-2040                 225,000                 24,493                249,493  

       
Total   $         1,580,000    $         537,384    $       2,117,384  
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4.  LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 

The annual requirements to amortize direct borrowing loan outstanding as of December 31, 2020 are as 
follows: 
 

Year Ending  Principle  Interest  Payment 
December 31,       

       
2021   $             13,500    $           25,621    $            39,121  
2022                  13,500                 25,456                  38,956  
2023                  14,500                 26,291                  40,791  
2024                  14,500                 26,105                  40,605  
2025                  15,500                 29,502                  45,002  

2026-2030                  84,000               144,286                228,286  
2031-2035                  98,500               138,342                236,842  
2036-2040                115,000               130,847                245,847  
2041-2045                127,000               120,876                247,876  
2046-2050                  97,500               116,786                214,286  
2051-2054                  90,500                 95,650                186,150  

       
Total   $           684,000    $         879,762    $       1,563,762  

 
The following is a summary of changes in long-term debt and net pension liability for the year ended 
December 31, 2020: 

    
The following is a summary of changes in long-term debt and net pension liability for the year ended 
December 31, 2019: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

December 31, 
2019 Additions Retirements 

December 31, 
2020 

Due Within 
One Year 

Net pension liability   $       345,463   $    18,858 $                 -  $       364,321   $                -  

Net OPEB liability           82,601        32,073  -          114,674                  -  

Bonds payable  1,665,000                -  (85,000) 1,580,000  90,000  

Notes payable           697,000                 -        (13,000)          684,000          13,500  
        

Total   $    2,790,064  $   50,931  $    (98,000) $    2,742,995  $    103,500  

   
December 31, 

2018 Additions Retirements 
December 31, 

2019 
Due Within 
One Year 

        
Net pension liability   $       291,604   $    53,859  $                 -  $       345,463   $                -  

Net OPEB liability           85,010        -  (2,409)          82,601                  -  

Bonds payable  1,750,000                -  (85,000) 1,665,000  85,000  

Notes payable           709,500                 -        (12,500)          697,000          13,000  
        

Total   $    2,836,114  $   53,859  $    (99,909) $    2,790,064  $      98,000  
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5.  RETIREMENT PLAN  
 

 The Nicholas County Water District is a participating employer of the County Employees' Retirement 
System (CERS).  Under the provisions of Kentucky Revised Statute 61.645, the Board of Trustees of 
Kentucky Retirement Systems administers the CERS.  The plan issues publicly available financial 
statements which may be downloaded from the Kentucky Retirement Systems website. 

  
Plan Description – CERS is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan that covers 
substantially all regular full-time members employed in positions of each participating county, city, and 
school board, and any additional eligible local agencies electing to participate in the System.  The plan 
provides for retirement, disability, and death benefits to plan members.  Retirement benefits may be 
extended to beneficiaries of plan members under certain circumstances.  Cost-of-living (COLA) 
adjustments are provided at the discretion of state legislature. 
 
Contributions – For the year ended December 31, 2020, plan members were required to contribute 5.00% 
of wages for non-hazardous job classifications.  Employees hired after September 2008 are required to 
contribute an additional 1% to cover the cost of medical insurance that is provided through CERS. 
Participating employers are required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate.  Per Kentucky Revised 
Statute Section 78.545 (33), normal contribution and past service contribution rates shall be determined by 
the Board on the basis of an annual valuation last proceeding the July 1 of a new biennium.  The Board 
may amend contribution rates as of the first day of July of the second year of a biennium, if it is determined 
on the basis of a subsequent actuarial valuation that amended contribution rates are necessary to satisfy 
requirements determined in accordance with actuarial basis adopted by the Board.  For the year ended 
December 31, 2020, participating employers contributed 24.06% of each non-hazardous employee’s 
wages, which is equal to the actuarially determined rate set by the Board. The contributions are allocated 
to both the pension and insurance trust. The insurance trust is more fully described in Note 6. For the year 
ended December 31, 2020, plan members contributed 19.30% to the pension for non-hazardous job 
classifications.  For the year ended December 31, 2019, plan members contributed 16.22% through June 
30th and 19.30% thereafter, to the pension for non-hazardous job classifications.  Administrative costs of 
Kentucky Retirement System are financed through employer contributions and investment earnings. 
 

 

Plan members who began participating on, or after, January 1, 2014, are required to contribute to the 
Cash Balance Plan.  The Cash Balance Plan is known as a hybrid plan because it has characteristics of 
both a defined benefit plan and a defined contribution plan.  Members in the plan contribute a set 
percentage of their salary each month to their own account.  Plan members contribute 5.00% of wages to 
their own account and 1% to the health insurance fund.  The employer contribution rate is set annually by 
the Board based on an actuarial valuation.  The employer contributes a set percentage of each member’s 
salary.  Each month, when employer contributions are received, an employer pay credit is deposited to the 
member’s account.  For non-hazardous members, their account is credited with a 4% employer pay credit. 
The employer pay credit represents a portion of the employer contribution. 

 
The District contributed $24,201 for the year ended December 31, 2020, or 100% of the required 
contribution. The District contributed $21,835 for the year ended December 31, 2019, or 100% of the 
required contribution 
 
Benefits – CERS provides retirement, health insurance, death and disability benefits to Plan employees 
and beneficiaries.  Employees are vested in the plan after five years' service.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

December 31, 2020 and 2019 
_______ 

 

-12- 
 

5.  RETIREMENT PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 
For retirement purposes, employees are grouped into three tiers based on hire date: 

 
Tier 1  Participation date  Before September 1, 2008 
 Unreduced retirement  27 years service or 65 years old and 4 years service 
 Reduced retirement  At least 5 years service and 55 years old or 
  25 years service and any age 
 

Tier 2  Participation date  September 1, 2008 - December 31, 2013 
 Unreduced retirement  At least 5 years service and 65 years old 
  or age 57+ and sum of service years plus age equal to 87+ 
 Reduced retirement  At least 10 years service and 60 years old 
 

Tier 3  Participation date  After December 31, 2013 
 Unreduced retirement  At least 5 years service and 65 years old 
   or age 57+ and sum of service years plus age equal to 87+ 

    Reduced retirement  Not available 
 
Cost of living adjustments are provided at the discretion of the General Assembly. Retirement is based on 
a factor of the number of years’ service and hire date multiplied by the average of the highest five years’ 
earnings. Reduced benefits are based on factors of both of these components. Participating employees 
become eligible to receive the health insurance benefit after at least 180 months of service. Death benefits 
are provided for both death after retirement and death prior to retirement. Death benefits after retirement 
are $5,000 in lump sum. Five years’ service is required for death benefits prior to retirement and the 
employee must have suffered a duty-related death. The decedent’s beneficiary will receive the higher of 
the normal death benefit and $10,000 plus 25% of the decedent’s monthly final rate of pay and any 
dependent child will receive 10% of the decedent’s monthly final rate of pay up to 40% for all dependent 
children. Five years’ service is required for nonservice-related disability benefits.  

 
Pension Liabilities, Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources – At 
December 31, 2020, the District reported a net pension liability of $364,321 for its proportionate share of 
the total net pension liability.  The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2020, and the total 
pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of 
June 30, 2019 and was rolled forward using generally accepted actuarial procedures. The District’s 
proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of the District’s long-term share of 
contributions to the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating entities, 
actuarially determined.  At June 30, 2020, the District’s proportion was 0.004750 percent, which was an 
increase of 0.000162 percent from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2019.   

 
For the year ended December 31, 2020, the District recognized pension expense of $50,914. At December 
31, 2020, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions from the following sources: 

 Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources 

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources 

Differences between expected and actual results $           9,086 $                 - 
Changes of assumptions 14,227 - 
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on Plan  
   investments 9,117                        - 
Changes in proportion and differences between District     
   contributions and proportionate share of contributions 3,105 7,696 
District contributions subsequent to the measurement date             12,718                    - 
   
Total $         48,253 $         7,696 

 



NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

December 31, 2020 and 2019 
_______ 

 

-13- 
 

5.  RETIREMENT PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 
The $12,718 of deferred outflows of resources resulting from the District’s contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ending 
December 31, 2021. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources as of December 31, 2020 will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

Year ending December 31,  
2021   $        12,581 
2022   $          7,598 
2023   $          3,997 
2024   $          3,663 

 
Actuarial Assumptions – The total pension liability in the June 30, 2020 actuarial valuation was determined 
using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 
 

Inflation 2.30%  
Salary increases 3.30% to 10.30%, varies by service 
Investment rate of return 6.25%, net of Plan investment expense, including inflation 

 
The mortality table used for active members was a Pub-2010 General Mortality table, projected with the 
ultimate rates from the MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using a base year of 2010. The mortality 
table used for healthy retired members was a system-specific mortality table based on mortality experience 
from 2013-2018, projected with the ultimate rates from MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using a base 
year of 2020. The mortality table used for the disabled members was PUB-2010 Disabled Mortality table, 
with a 4-year set-forward for both male and female rates, projected with the ultimate rates from the 
MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using a base year of 2010. 
 
The actuarial assumption used in the June 30, 2020 valuation was based on the results of an actuarial 
experience study for the period July 1, 2013 - June 30, 2018. The total pension liability was rolled-forward 
from the valuation date (June 30, 2019) to the plan’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2020. 
 
The long-term expected rate of return was determined by using a building-block method in which best 
estimate ranges of expected future real rate of returns are developed for each asset class. The ranges are 
combined by weighting the expected future real rate of return by the target asset allocation percentage. As 
of December 31, 2020, the target allocation and best estimates of nominal real rates of return for each 
major asset class are summarized in the following table: 
 

 
 

Asset Class 

 
Target 

Allocation 

Long-Term 
Expected 

Real Rate of Return 
Growth 62.50%  
   US Equity 18.75% 4.50% 
   Non-US Equity 18.75% 5.25% 
   Private Equity 10.00% 6.65% 
   Special credit/high yield 15.00% 3.90% 
Liquidity  14.50%  
   Core Bonds 13.50% -0.25% 
   Cash 1.00% -0.75% 
Diversifying Strategies 23.00%  
   Real Estate 5.00% 5.30% 
   Opportunistic  3.00% 2.25% 
   Real Return  15.00% 3.95% 
Total 100.00% 3.96% 
Long term inflation assumption  2.30% 
Expected nominal return for portfolio  6.25% 
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5.  RETIREMENT PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 

Discount Rate – The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.25 percent. The 
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that local employers would 
contribute the actuarially determined contribution rate of projected compensation over the closed 24-year 
amortization period of the unfunded actuarial accrued liability. The actuarial determined contribution rate is 
adjusted to reflect the phase in of anticipated gains on actuarial value of assets over the first four years of 
the projection period. The discount rate determination does not use a municipal bond rate 
 

Sensitivity of the District’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount 
Rate – The following presents the District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using 
the discount rate of 6.25 percent, as well as what the District’s proportionate share of the net pension 
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (5.25 percent) 
or 1-percentage-point higher (7.25 percent) than the current rate: 

 

Discount rate 

District’s 
proportionate share 

of net pension 
liability 

1% decrease 5.25% $               449,287 
Current discount rate 6.25% $               364,321 
1% increase 7.25% $               293,966 

 

Payable to the Pension Plan – At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the District reported a payable of $4,135 
and $3,407 for the outstanding amount of contributions to the pension plan required for the years ended, 
respectively. The payable includes both the pension and insurance contribution allocation. 

 
6.  POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS (OPEB) 

 
Plan Description – As more fully described in Note 5, the District participates in the County Employees’ 
Retirement System (CERS). CERS is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan that 
covers substantially all regular full-time members employed in positions of each participating county, city, 
and school board, and any additional eligible local agencies electing to participate in the System. In 
addition to retirement benefits, the plan provides for health insurance benefits to plan members (other 
postemployment benefits or OPEB).  OPEB benefits may be extended to beneficiaries of plan members 
under certain circumstances.   

Contributions – As more fully described in Note 5, plan members contribute to CERS for non-hazardous 
job classifications. For the year ended December 31, 2020, the employer’s contribution was 4.76% to the 
insurance trust for non-hazardous job classifications. Employees hired after September 1, 2008, are 
required to contribute an additional 1% to cover the cost of medical insurance that is provided through 
CERS. Participating employers are required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate. Per Kentucky 
Revised Statute Section 78.545(33), normal contribution and past service contribution rates shall be 
determined by the Board on the basis of an annual valuation last proceeding the July 1 of a new biennium. 
The Board may amend contribution rates as of the first day of July of the second year of a biennium, if it is 
determined on the basis of a subsequent actuarial valuation that amended contribution rates are 
necessary to satisfy requirements determined in accordance with actuarial basis adopted by the Board. 
The contribution rates are equal to the actuarially determined rate set by the Board.  Administrative costs 
of Kentucky Retirement System are financed through employer contributions and investment earnings.  
 
For the year ended December 31, 2020, the District contributed $5,969, or 100% of the required 
contribution for non-hazardous job classifications. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the District 
contributed $6,149, or 100% of the required contribution for non-hazardous job classifications.   
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6. POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS (OPEB) (CONTINUED) 
 

Benefits – CERS provides health insurance benefits to Plan employees and beneficiaries.   
 
For retirement purposes, employees are grouped into three tiers based on hire date: 
 

Tier 1  Participation date  Before July 1, 2003 
 Insurance eligibility 10 years of service credit required  
 Benefit Set percentage of single coverage health insurance 

based on service credit accrued at retirement   
 

Tier 1  Participation date  Before September 1, 2008 but after July 1, 2003 
 Insurance eligibility 10 years of service credit required  
 Benefit Set dollar amount based on service credit accrued, 

increased annually  
 

 Tier 2  Participation date  After September 1, 2008 and before December 31, 2013 
 Insurance eligibility 15 years of service credit required  
 Benefit Set dollar amount based on service credit accrued, 

increased annually 
 

Tier 3  Participation date  After December 31, 2013 
 Insurance eligibility 15 years of service credit required  
 Benefit Set dollar amount based on service credit accrued, 

increased annually 
 

OPEB Liabilities, Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources – At 
December 31, 2020, the District reported a liability for its proportionate share of the net OPEB liability of 
$114,674. The net OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2020, and the total OPEB liability used to 
calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2019 and was 
rolled forward using generally accepted actuarial procedures. The District's proportion of the net OPEB 
liability was based on a projection of the District’s long-term share of contributions to the OPEB plan 
relative to the projected contributions of all participating entities, actuarially determined. The District’s 
proportionate share at June 30, 2020 was .004749 percent, which was an increase of 0.000162 percent 
from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2019.  
 
For the year ended December 31, 2020, the District recognized OPEB expense of $14,496. At December 
31, 2020, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
OPEB from the following sources: 

 
 

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources 

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources 

Differences between expected and actual results $      19,160 $       19,175 
Changes of assumptions 19,947 121 
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on Plan  
   investments            3,811 - 
Changes in proportion and differences between District 
   contributions and proportionate share of contributions 1,237 4,743 
District contributions subsequent to the measurement date             5,951                     - 
   
Total $      50,106 $       24,039 
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6. POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS (OPEB) (CONTINUED) 
 
The $5,951 of deferred outflows of resources resulting from the District’s contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB liability in the year ending 
December 31, 2021. This includes an adjustment of $2,814 related to the implicit subsidy, which is 
required to be recognized as a deferred outflow of resources. Other amounts reported as deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources will be recognized in expense as follows: 

 
Year ending December 31,  

  

2021 $          5,252 
2022 $          6,380 
2023 $          4,221 
2024 $          4,462 
2025 $           (199) 

 
Actuarial Assumptions – The total OPEB liability in the June 30, 2020 actuarial valuation was determined 
using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 

Non-hazardous  

Inflation 2.30%  
Salary increases 3.30 to 10.30%, average, including inflation 
Investment rate of return 6.25%, net of Plan investment expense, including inflation 
Healthcare Trend Rates  
   Pre – 65 
 
 

Initial trend starting at 6.40% at January 1, 2022, and 
gradually decreasing to an ultimate trend rate of 4.05% 
over a period of 14 years. 

   Post – 65 
 
 

Initial trend starting at 2.90% at January 1, 2022, and 
increasing to 6.30% in 2023, then gradually decreasing to 
an ultimate trend rate of 4.05% over a period of 14 years. 
 
 

 
The mortality table used for active members was a Pub-2010 General Mortality table, projected with the 
ultimate rates from the MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using a base year of 2010. The mortality 
table used for healthy retired members was a system-specific mortality table based on mortality 
experience from 2013-2018, projected with the ultimate rates from MP-2014 mortality improvement scale 
using a base year of 2019. The mortality table used for the disabled members was PUB-2010 Disabled 
Mortality table, with a 4-year set-forward for both male and female rates, projected with the ultimate rates 
from the MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using a base year of 2010. 
 

The actuarial assumption used in the June 30, 2020 valuation was based on the results of an actuarial 
experience study for the period July 1, 2013 - June 30, 2018. The total OPEB liability was rolled-forward 
from the valuation date (June 30, 2019) to the plan’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2020. 

 
The long-term expected rate of return was determined by using a building-block method in which best 
estimate ranges of expected future real rate of returns are developed for each asset class. The ranges are 
combined by weighting the expected future real rate of return by the target asset allocation percentage.  
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6. POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS (OPEB) (CONTINUED) 
 
The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic nominal real rates of return for each major asset 
class are summarized in the following table: 

 
 

Asset Class 

 
Target 

Allocation 

Long-Term 
Expected 

Real Rate of Return 
Growth 62.50%  
   US Equity 18.75% 4.50% 
   Non-US Equity 18.75% 5.25% 
   Private Equity 10.00% 6.65% 
   Special credit/high yield 15.00% 3.90% 
Liquidity  14.50%  
   Core Bonds 13.50% -0.25% 
   Cash 1.00% -0.75% 
Diversifying Strategies 23.00%  
   Real Estate 5.00% 5.30% 
   Opportunistic  3.00% 2.25% 
   Real Return  15.00% 3.95% 
Total 100.00% 3.96% 
Long term inflation assumption  2.30% 
Expected nominal return for portfolio  6.25% 

 
Discount Rate – The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2020 was 
5.34% for non-hazardous classifications. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate 
assumed that local employers would contribute the actuarially determined contribution rate of projected 
compensation over the remaining 24-year amortization period of the unfunded actuarial accrued liability. 
As of June 30, 2020, the discount rate determination used an expected rate of return of 6.25%, and a 
municipal bond rate of 2.45%, as reported in Fidelity Index’s “20 –Year Municipal GO AA Index”. 
However, the cost associated with the implicit employer subsidy was not included in the calculation of the 
System’s actuarial determined contributions, and any cost associated with the implicit subsidy will not be 
paid out of the System’s trusts. Therefore, the municipal bond rate was applied to future expected benefit 
payments associated with the implicit subsidy. 

 
Sensitivity of the District’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 
– The following presents the District’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability calculated using the 
discount rate as well as what the District’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability would be if it were 
calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the 
current rate: 

 

Discount rate 

Proportionate 
share of net 

OPEB liability 
1% decrease 4.34% $          147,322 
Current discount rate 5.34% $          114,674 
1% increase 6.34% $            87,859 
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6. POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS (OPEB) (CONTINUED) 
 
Sensitivity of the District’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare 
Cost Trend Rate – The following presents the District’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability 
calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point 
higher than the current healthcare cost trend rates: 

 

 

Proportionate 
share of net 

OPEB liability 
1% decrease  $              88,786 
Current trend rate  $            114,674 
1% increase  $            146,089 

 
OPEB plan fiduciary net position – Detailed information about the OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position is 
available in the separately issued financial report. 
 

7.  RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
 

The District is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. In addition to its general 
liability insurance, the District also carries commercial insurance for all other risks of loss such as 
worker’s compensation and employee health and accident coverage. Settled claims resulting from these 
risks have not exceeded commercial insurance coverage in any of the past four fiscal years. 

 
8.  COVID-19 PANDEMIC 
 

During 2020 and 2021, various restrictions were placed on utilities in the state of Kentucky in response to 
the COVID-19 pandemic.  These restrictions included the cessation of utility shutoffs and the charging of 
penalties due to nonpayment of bills.  As a result of these orders and the impact of COVID-19 on the 
District’s customers, there has been an increase in delinquent billings as of December 31, 2020.  The 
District is working to establish payment plans with customers who have delinquent bills in an attempt to 
ensure continuous service and the collection of past due balances.  The District has increased the 
allowance for doubtful accounts to $15,000 as of December 31, 2020, as an estimate of the total amount 
of accounts receivable that will not be collectible. 



REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION



NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE 

PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY
Last Three Calendar Years

_____

Reporting Year End December 31, 2018 December 31, 2019 December 31, 2020
(Measurement Date) (June 30, 2018) (June 30, 2019) (June 30, 2020)

District’s proportion of the net pension liability 0.004788% 0.004912% 0.004750%
District’s proportionate share of the net pension 

liability (asset) 291,604$                  345,463$                  364,321$                  
District’s covered employee payroll 125,394$                  123,914$                  121,680$                  
District’s share of the net pension liability (asset)

as a percentage of its covered employee payroll 232.55% 278.79% 299.41%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage 

of the total pension liability 53.54% 50.45% 47.81%

Notes:
The above schedule will present 10 years of historical data, once available.
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NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT
 REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE

CONTRIBUTIONS - PENSION
Last Three Calendar Years

_____

2018 2019 2020
Contractually required employer    

contribution 19,088$       21,835$        24,201$        
Contributions relative to contractually 

required employer contribution 19,088         21,835          24,201          

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                -$                  -$                  

District’s covered employee payroll 124,221$     122,809$      125,394$      
Employer contributions as a percentage

 of covered-employee payroll 15.37% 17.78% 19.30%

Notes:
The above schedule will present 10 years of historical data, once available.
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NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE

PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET OPEB LIABILITY
Last Three Calendar Years

_____

Reporting Year End December 31, 2018 December 31, 2019 December 31, 2020
(Measurement Date) (June 30, 2018) (June 30, 2019) (June 30, 2020)

District’s proportion of the net OPEB liability 0.004788% 0.004911% 0.004749%
District’s proportionate share of the net OPEB

liability (asset) 85,010$                    82,601$                    114,674$                  
District’s covered employee payroll 125,394$                  123,914$                  121,680$                  
District’s share of the net OPEB liability (asset) as a 

percentage of its covered employee payroll 67.79% 66.66% 94.24%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage 

of the total OPEB liability 57.62% 60.44% 51.67%

Notes:
The above schedule will present 10 years of historical data, once available.
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NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE
CONTRIBUTIONS - OPEB
Last Three Calendar Years

_____

2018 2019 2020
Contractually required employer    

contribution 6,193$       6,149$       5,969$       
Contributions relative to contractually 

required employer contribution 6,193         6,149         5,969         

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$               -$               -$               

District’s covered employee payroll 124,221$   122,809$   125,394$   

Employer contributions as a percentage

 of covered-employee payroll 4.99% 5.01% 4.76%

Notes:
The above schedule will present 10 years of historical data, once available.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
 FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 

BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED 
 IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS  

The Board of Commissioners 
Nicholas County Water District 
Carlisle, Kentucky 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the Nicholas County 
Water District (the District), as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes to the 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements and have issued 
our report thereon dated March 25, 2021. 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the District’s internal control 
over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management 
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s 
financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant 
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a 
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may 
exist that have not been identified. We did identify certain deficiencies in internal control, described in the 
accompanying schedule of findings and responses that we consider to be material weaknesses (2020-001, 
2020-002, and 2020-003). 

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District’s financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The 
results of our tests disclosed instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported 
under Government Auditing Standards. 

Members American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
and Kentucky Society of Certified Public Accountants 

RFH, PLLC •  300 West Vine Street, Suite 800  •  Lexington, Kentucky 40507-1812 
Phone: 859-231-1800  •  Fax: 859-422-1800  •                www.rfhcpas.com
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Nicholas County Water District’s Response to Findings 

The District’s response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the accompanying schedule of 
findings and questioned costs. Nicholas County Water District’s response was not subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
RFH, PLLC 
Lexington, Kentucky 
March 25, 2021 
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2020-001 - The District should have internal controls in place that enable it to prepare complete 
financial statements (recurring) 
 
Criteria: The District is required to have internal controls in place that enable it to prepare complete financial 
statements, including note disclosures, in compliance with generally accepted accounting principles. 
 
Condition: Management engaged the auditor to prepare draft financial statements, including the related 
notes to the financial statements.   
 
Cause: The District lacks personnel with the expertise to draft the financial statements, including the related 
note disclosures, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.   
 
Effect: The auditor prepared draft financial statements, including the related notes to the financial 
statements.  Management reviewed, approved and accepted responsibility for the financial statements prior 
to their issuance. 
 
Recommendation: We recommend management review the costs and benefits involved to retain a 
consultant with the required expertise to prepare the financial statements. 
 
Response: Management has determined that it is more cost effective to continue to engage the auditor to 
draft the financial statements and related notes. Management has reviewed and accepts responsibility for 
the financial statements.  
 
2020-002 - All bank accounts should be reconciled monthly to the District's financial records 
(recurring) 
 
Criteria: All bank accounts should be reconciled to the District's financial records monthly. 
 
Condition: Multiple bank accounts were not reconciled for several months and transactions were not 
recorded accurately.  
 
Cause: The office staff has not been properly trained to utilize the accounting system used by the District. 
 
Effect: Auditors identified several bank accounts that were not reconciled timely. Numerous material audit 
adjustments were needed in order for the District's year end financial statements to be fairly presented. 
 
Recommendation: We recommend that the District take steps to ensure that all bank accounts are 
reconciled monthly and that all financial activity is recorded accurately. We recommend the District obtain 
outside bookkeeping assistance until the office staff is properly trained to perform these functions. 
 
Response: The office personnel will no longer use previous employee's reconciliation procedures.  Current 
personnel have made arrangements for online training from accounting software provider to begin 
immediately. 
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2020-003 - Lack of segregation of duties (recurring) 
 
Criteria: The basic premise of segregation of duties is that no one employee should have access to both 
physical assets and the related accounting records or to all phases of a transaction.  In addition, proper 
segregation of duties should include oversight of the finance personnel activity by individuals with 
knowledge of internal controls and accounting regulations, who were not involved in the original transaction. 
 
Condition: During the audit, we noted that the Organization lacks segregation of duties in multiple 
accounting functions. 
 
Cause: The Organization has only two dedicated employees to finance and accounting. 
 
Effect: There is a lack of oversight over the office employees and the transactions being recorded. 
 
Recommendation: We recommend that the District appoint a commissioner to perform increased oversight 
and monitoring of the financial reporting functions.  A common method for achieving this goal is for a 
commissioner to review the District's bank statements, payroll registers, credit card statements and other 
financial information such as water adjustments on a monthly basis.  While not a preventative control, this 
increased oversight can detect irregularities in the financial reporting function that are caused by a lack of 
segregation of duties within a relatively short period of time. 
 
Response: A commissioner will be appointed to review the monthly financial packet and will work in close 
contact with office employees. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT  

The Board of Commissioners 
Nicholas County Water District 
Carlisle, Kentucky 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Nicholas County Water District (the District),  
as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 
collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.  

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the Nicholas County Water District, as of December 31, 2019, and the 
respective changes in financial position, and cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  

Members American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
and Kentucky Society of Certified Public Accountants 

RFH, PLLC  •  300 West Vine Street, Suite 800  •  Lexington, Kentucky 40507-1812 
Phone: 859-231-1800  •  Fax: 859-422-1800  •  Toll-Free: 1-800-342-7299        www.rfhcpas.com
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Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information  

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the pension and 
OPEB schedules on pages 18-21 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such 
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the 
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied 
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our 
audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the 
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion 
or provide any assurance. 

Management has omitted the Management Discussion and Analysis that accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires to be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements.  Such missing information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by 
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial 
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical 
context.  Our opinion on the basic financial statements is not affected by this missing information.   

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards  

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated August 20, 2020, 
on our consideration of the District’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. 
The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Nicholas County Water District’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report 
is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering 
the District’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.  

 
 
RFH, PLLC 
Lexington, Kentucky 
August 20, 2020 



NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

December 31, 2019
______

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 164,934$            
Customer accounts receivable, net 54,060                
Inventory 17,543                

Prepaid expense 2,152                  

Total current assets 238,689              

Restricted assets
Cash and cash equivalents 62,371                

Capital assets
Property, plant and equipment 8,937,731           
Less: accumulated depreciation (4,166,539)          

Total capital assets 4,771,192           

Total assets 5,072,252           

Deferred outflows - pension 61,110                
Deferred outflows - OPEB 30,703                

Total deferred outflows of resources 91,813                

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 5,164,065$         

Current liabilities
Accounts payable 29,760$              
Accrued liabilities 7,033                  
Customer deposits 37,150                
Accrued interest payable 10,239                
Current portion of long-term debt 98,000                

Total current liabilities 182,182              

Noncurrent liabilities
Net pension liability 345,463              
Net OPEB liability 82,601                
Bonds and notes payable, net          2,264,000           

Total noncurrent liabilities 2,692,064           

Total liabilities 2,874,246           

Deferred inflows - pension 12,700                
Deferred inflows - OPEB 31,610                

Total deferred inflows of resources 44,310                

Net investment in capital assets 2,409,192           
Restricted 62,371                
Unrestricted (226,054)             

Total net position 2,245,509           

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and net position 5,164,065$         

LIABILITIES 

ASSETS

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

NET POSITION

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of the financial statements.
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NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

for the year ended December 31, 2019
______

OPERATING INCOME
Water sales 678,820$          
Other revenue 1,556                

Total operating income 680,376            

 
OPERATING EXPENSES

Water purchases 238,078            
Wages and benefits 255,191            
Professional fees 29,995              
Insurance 17,835              
Contract labor 22,791              
Computer services 14,401              
Utilities 27,728              
General and administrative 52,534              

Total operating expense 658,553            

Operating income before depreciation 21,823              

Depreciation expense (203,854)           

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) (182,031)           

Non-operating income (expense)
Interest income 1,634                
Interest expense (82,517)             

Total non-operating income (expense) (80,883)             

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS (262,914)           

Capital contributions
Grants 7,620                

Change in net position (255,294)           

Net position, beginning of year as restated 2,500,803         

NET POSITION, END OF YEAR 2,245,509$       

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of the financial statements.
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NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

for the year ended December 31, 2019
______

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers 680,939$         
Payments to suppliers (407,970)          
Payments for employee services and benefits (202,504)          

Net cash provided by operating activities 70,465             

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Retirement of debt principal (97,500)            
Interest paid (81,821)            
Purchase of capital assets (19,822)            
Grants 7,620               

(191,523)          

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest income 1,634               

Net cash provided by investing activities 1,634               

NET (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (119,424)          

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 346,729           

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR 227,305$         

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash
provided by operating activities:

Operating income (loss) (182,031)$        
Noncash items included in operating income:

Depreciation 203,854           
Net changes in pension liability 34,886             
Net changes in OPEB liability 688                  
Changes in assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in accounts receivables 3,636               
(Increase) decrease in inventory (144)                 
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expense (755)                 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 7,303               
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities (2,727)              

5,755               
 

Net cash provided by operating activities 70,465$           

Components of cash on the Statement of Net Position
Cash and cash equivalents 164,934$         
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 62,371             

227,305$         

Increase (decrease) in customer deposits

Net cash (used in) capital and related financing activities

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of the financial statements.
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NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

December 31, 2019  
_______ 
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1.   ORGANIZATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The Nicholas County Water District (the District) was created and organized as a public body incorporated 
in Nicholas County, Kentucky, pursuant to Chapter 74 of the Kentucky Revised Statutes.  The District 
began operations in 1966. 
 
Reporting Entity 

 
The Nicholas County Water District's financial statements include the operations of all entities for which 
the District exercises oversight responsibility.  Oversight responsibility includes, but is not limited to, 
financial interdependency, selection of the governing authority, designation of management, ability to 
significantly influence operations, and accountability for fiscal matters.   
 
There are no other entities that are subject to the District's oversight responsibility as indicated above. 
 
Basis of Accounting 
 
The accrual basis of accounting is utilized by the District. Under this method, revenues are recognized 
when earned and expenses are recognized when incurred.  
 
The District reports all revenues and expenses as operating, except interest income, interest expense, 
amortization, gains and losses on disposal of assets, and capital contributions. 

 
The net position of the District is classified into three categories; net investment in capital assets, 
restricted and unrestricted.  The restricted net assets consist of reserves for bond retirement and 
depreciation costs relating to the construction, replacement, extension, additions and/or improvements to 
the system in addition to customer deposits.   
 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, the District’s Board of 
Commissioners makes a determination as to which resource should be used first. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the District defines cash as cash on hand, cash in bank, 
money market funds in both unrestricted and restricted accounts, and certificates of deposit with an initial 
maturity of less than 90 days. 

 
Accounts Receivable 
 
The District's accounts receivable reserve represents its estimate of all uncollectible accounts. There was 
no reserve as of December 31, 2019, as the District believes all accounts are fully collectible. 
 
Inventory 
 
The District’s inventory is composed of chemicals, equipment and supply-type items used for routine 
maintenance, repairs and new water lines. The inventory is stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out 
method) or market. 
 
Capital Assets 
 
Capital assets are recorded at cost.  Depreciation has been provided using the straight-line method over 
the estimated useful life of the asset, which ranges from 7 - 62.5 years.  Land and land rights are not 
subject to depreciation.   
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1.   ORGANIZATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Pensions 
 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the 
County Employees’ Retirement System (CERS) and additions to/deductions from CERS’ fiduciary net 
position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by CERS. For this purpose, 
benefit payments, (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in 
accordance with benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 
 
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB) 
 
For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the County 
Employees’ Retirement System (CERS) and additions to/deductions from CERS’ fiduciary net position 
have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by CERS.  For this purpose, benefit 
payments, including refunds of employee contributions, are recognized when due and payable in 
accordance with benefit terms.  Investments are reported at fair value. 
 
Estimates 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period.  Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 
 
Management’s Review of Subsequent Events 
 
The District has evaluated and considered the need to recognize or disclose subsequent events through 
August 20, 2020, which represents the date that these financial statements were available to be issued.  
Subsequent events past this date, as they pertain to the year ended December 31, 2019, have not been 
evaluated by the District. 
 

2.   CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

KRS 66.480 authorizes the District to invest in the following, including but not limited to, obligations of the 
United States and of its agencies and instrumentalities, obligations and contracts for future delivery or 
purchase of obligations backed by the full faith and credit of the United States, obligations of any 
corporation of the United States government, bonds or certificates of indebtedness of this state, and 
certificates of deposit issued by or other interest-bearing accounts of any bank or savings and loan 
institution which have a physical presence in Kentucky and are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation (FDIC) or which are collateralized, to the extent uninsured, by any obligation permitted by 
KRS 41.240(4). The Statute also authorizes investment in mutual funds, exchange traded funds, 
individual equity securities and high-quality corporate bonds that are managed by a professional 
investment manager and subject to additional requirements outlined in KRS 66.480.   
 
Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the District will not be 
able to recover the value of the investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside 
party. In order to anticipate market changes and provide a level of security for all funds, the 
collateralization level shall be one hundred percent of the market value of the principal, plus accrued 
interest. 
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2.   CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

The District’s deposits at December 31, 2019, were entirely covered by Federal Depository Insurance. 
 
3.   CAPITAL ASSETS 
 

The following is a summary of capital asset activity during the year ended December 31, 2019: 
 

 Balance   Balance 
 12/31/2018 Additions Disposals 12/31/2019 

 
Capital assets not depreciated:  
   Land $      20,997 $                - $               - $      20,997 
          
Totals         20,997                   -                   -         20,997 
 
Capital assets being depreciated: 
   Distribution lines 8,534,219 19,882 - 8,554,101 
   Building and improvements 185,553 - - 185,553 
   Equipment      177,080                   -                   -       177,080 
  
Totals 8,896,852      19,882                          -          8,916,734 
Less: accumulated depreciation    3,962,685       203,854                   -    4,166,539 
   
Depreciable assets, net    4,934,167      (183,972)                   -    4,750,195 
 
Total capital assets, net $ 4,955,164 $   (183,972) $                -  $ 4,771,192 
 
Depreciation expense totaled $203,854 for the year ended December 31, 2019. 
 

4.  LONG-TERM DEBT  
 

The following is a summary of the bonds and notes outstanding for the District for the year ended 
December 31, 2019: 

          
 

 Kentucky Rural Water Finance Corp. Bond - $1,775,000, 
 dated 5/12/15 with payments through 2040, 
  bearing interest at 2.10 - 4.10%.                     $    1,545,000 
  

Kentucky Infrastructure Authority Loan - $185,000 
 dated 5/12/15 with payments through 2025, 
  bearing interest at 2.10 - 4.10%.            120,000   
  

USDA, Rural Development Bond - $203,000, 
with payments through 2044, 

 bearing interest at 4.125%.       168,000  
 

USDA, Rural Development Bond - $555,000, 
with payments through 2054, 

 bearing interest at a rate of 2.75%.         529,000  
 
 Totals  2,362,000  
 Less: current portion of debt          (98,000)  
  
 Long-term debt   $    2,264,000   
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4.  LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
The annual requirements to amortize all bonds and notes outstanding as of December 31, 2019 are as 
follows: 
 

 
Year Ending  Principle  Interest  Payment 

December 31,       
       

2020   $              98,000    $           85,434    $         183,434  
2021                 103,500                 83,531               187,031  
2022                 103,500                 79,676               183,176  
2023                 109,500                 76,719               186,219  
2024                 109,500                 72,638               182,138  

2025-2029                 521,500               332,956               854,456  
2030-2034                 595,500               245,143               840,643  
2035-2039                 336,500               166,131               502,631  
2040-2044                 178,500               124,498               302,998  
2045-2049                   95,000              116,933               211,933  
2050-2054                 111,000               118,921               229,921  

       
Total   $         2,362,000    $      1,502,580    $       3,864,580  

 
The following is a summary of changes in long-term debt, net pension liability, and net OPEB liability for 
the year ended December 31, 2019:  

   
    
 Balance   Balance 
 12/31/2018 Additions Disposals 12/31/2019 
  
   Net pension liability $      291,604 $     53,859 $               - $    345,463 
   Net OPEB liability       85,010                 -                (2,409)         82,601 
   Long-term debt       2,459,500                 -                (97,500)    2,362,000 
 
   Total $   2,836,114 $     53,859 $   (99,909)  $  2,790,064 

 
5.  RETIREMENT PLAN  
 

 The Nicholas County Water District is a participating employer of the County Employees' Retirement 
System (CERS).  Under the provisions of Kentucky Revised Statute 61.645, the Board of Trustees of 
Kentucky Retirement Systems administers the CERS.  The plan issues publicly available financial 
statements which may be downloaded from the Kentucky Retirement Systems website. 
 
 Plan Description – CERS is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan that covers 
substantially all regular full-time members employed in positions of each participating county, city, and 
school board, and any additional eligible local agencies electing to participate in the System.  The plan 
provides for retirement, disability, and death benefits to plan members.  Retirement benefits may be 
extended to beneficiaries of plan members under certain circumstances.  Cost-of-living (COLA) 
adjustments are provided at the discretion of state legislature. 
 
Contributions – For the year ended December 31, 2019, plan members were required to contribute 5.00% 
of wages for non-hazardous job classifications.  Employees hired after September 2008 were required to 
contribute an additional 1% to cover the cost of medical insurance that is provided through CERS. 
Participating employers were required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate.  Per Kentucky 
Revised Statute Section 78.545(33), normal contribution and past service contribution rates shall be 
determined by the Board on the basis of an annual valuation last proceeding the July 1 of a new biennium.  
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5.  RETIREMENT PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 

The Board may amend contribution rates as of the first day of July of the second year of a biennium, if it is 
determined on the basis of a subsequent actuarial valuation that amended contribution rates are necessary 
to satisfy requirements determined in accordance with actuarial basis adopted by the Board.  For the year 
ended December 31, 2019, participating employers contributed 21.48% through June 30 and 24.06% 
thereafter, of each non-hazardous employee’s wages, which is equal to the actuarially determined rate set 
by the Board.  The contributions are allocated to both the pension and insurance trust. The insurance trust 
is more fully described in Note 6. For the year ended December 31, 2019, plan members contributed 
16.22% to the pension trust though June 30th and 19.30%, thereafter for non-hazardous job 
classifications.  Administrative costs of Kentucky Retirement System are financed through employer 
contributions and investment earnings. 
 
 

Plan members who began participating on, or after, January 1, 2014, are required to contribute to the 
Cash Balance Plan.  The Cash Balance Plan is known as a hybrid plan because it has characteristics of 
both a defined benefit plan and a defined contribution plan.  Members in the plan contribute a set 
percentage of their salary each month to their own account.  Plan members contribute 5% of wages to 
their own account and 1% to the health insurance fund.  The employer contribution rate is set annually by 
the Board based on an actuarial valuation.  The employer contributes a set percentage of each member’s 
salary.  Each month, when employer contributions are received, an employer pay credit is deposited to the 
member’s account.  For non-hazardous members, their account is credited with a 4% employer pay credit. 
The employer pay credit represents a portion of the employer contribution. 

 
The District contributed $21,835 for the year ended December 31, 2019, or 100% of the required 
contribution.   
 
Benefits – CERS provides retirement, health insurance, death and disability benefits to Plan employees 
and beneficiaries.  Employees are vested in the plan after five years' service.   
 
For retirement purposes, employees are grouped into three tiers based on hire date: 

 
Tier 1  Participation date  Before September 1, 2008 
 Unreduced retirement  27 years service or 65 years old and 4 years service 
 Reduced retirement  At least 5 years service and 55 years old or 
  25 years service and any age 
 

Tier 2  Participation date  September 1, 2008 - December 31, 2013 
 Unreduced retirement  At least 5 years service and 65 years old 
  or age 57+ and sum of service years plus age equal to 87+ 
 Reduced retirement  At least 10 years service and 60 years old 
 

Tier 3  Participation date  After December 31, 2013 
 Unreduced retirement  At least 5 years service and 65 years old 
   or age 57+ and sum of service years plus age equal to 87+ 

    Reduced retirement  Not available 
 
Cost of living adjustments are provided at the discretion of the General Assembly. Retirement is based on 
a factor of the number of years’ service and hire date multiplied by the average of the highest five years’ 
earnings. Reduced benefits are based on factors of both of these components. Participating employees 
become eligible to receive the health insurance benefit after at least 180 months of service. Death benefits 
are provided for both death after retirement and death prior to retirement. Death benefits after retirement 
are $5,000 in lump sum. Five years’ service is required for death benefits prior to retirement and the 
employee must have suffered a duty-related death. The decedent’s beneficiary will receive the higher of 
the normal death benefit and $10,000 plus 25% of the decedent’s monthly final rate of pay and any 
dependent child will receive 10% of the decedent’s monthly final rate of pay up to 40% for all dependent 
children. Five years’ service is required for nonservice-related disability benefits.  
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5.  RETIREMENT PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 

Pension Liabilities, Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources – At 
December 31, 2019, the District reported a net pension liability of $345,463 for its proportionate share of 
the total net pension liability.  The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2019, and the total 
pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of 
June 30, 2018 and was rolled forward using generally accepted actuarial procedures. The District’s 
proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of the District’s long-term share of 
contributions to the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating entities, 
actuarially determined.  At June 30, 2019, the District’s proportion was 0.004912 percent, which was an 
increase of 0.000124 percent from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2018.   

 
For the year ended December 31, 2019, the District recognized pension expense of $56,721. At December 
31, 2019, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions from the following sources: 

 Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources 

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources 

Differences between expected and actual results $            8,821 $           1,460 
Changes of assumptions 34,965 - 
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on Plan  
   investments -                5,569 
Changes in proportion and differences between District     
   contributions and proportionate share of contributions 5,323 5,671 
District contributions subsequent to the measurement date             12,001                    - 
   
Total $         61,110 $       12,700 

 
The $12,001 of deferred outflows of resources resulting from the District’s contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ending 
December 31, 2020. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources as of December 31, 2019 will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

Year ending December 31,  
2020   $        22,090 
2021   $          9,539 
2022   $          4,385 
2023   $             395 

 

Actuarial Assumptions – The total pension liability in the June 30, 2018 actuarial valuation was determined 
using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 
 

Inflation 2.30%  
Salary increases 3.30% to 10.30%, average, including inflation 
Investment rate of return 6.25%, net of Plan investment expense, including inflation 

 
The mortality table used for active members was a Pub-2010 General Mortality table, projected with the 
ultimate rates from the MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using a base year of 2010. The mortality 
table used for healthy retired members was a system-specific mortality table based on mortality experience 
from 2013-2018, projected with the ultimate rates from MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using a base 
year of 2019. The mortality table used for the disabled members was PUB-2010 Disabled Mortality table, 
with a 4-year set-forward for both male and female rates, projected with the ultimate rates from the 
MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using a base year of 2010. 
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5.  RETIREMENT PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 
The actuarial assumption used in the June 30, 2018 valuation was based on the results of an actuarial 
experience study for the period July 1, 2013 - June 30, 2018. The total pension liability was rolled-forward 
from the valuation date (June 30, 2018) to the plan’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2019. 
 
The long-term expected rate of return was determined by using a building-block method in which best 
estimate ranges of expected future real rate of returns are developed for each asset class. The ranges are 
combined by weighting the expected future real rate of return by the target asset allocation percentage. As 
of December 31, 2019, the target allocation and best estimates of nominal real rates of return for each 
major asset class are summarized in the following table: 

 
 

Asset Class 

 
Target 

Allocation 

Long-Term 
Expected 

Real Rate of Return 
Growth 62.50%  
   US Equity 18.75% 4.30% 
   Non-US Equity 18.75% 4.80% 
   Private Equity 10.00% 6.65% 
   Special credit/high yield 15.00% 2.60% 
Liquidity  14.50%  
   Core Bonds 13.50% 1.35% 
   Cash 1.00% 0.20% 
Diversifying Strategies 23.00%  
   Real Estate 5.00% 4.85% 
   Opportunistic  3.00% 2.97% 
   Real Return  15.00% 4.10% 
Total 100.00% 6.25% 

 
Discount Rate – The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.25 percent. The 
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that local employers would 
contribute funds as required by the current funding policy established in Statute as last amended by House 
Bill 362 (passed in 2018). The discount rate determination does not use a municipal bond rate. 
 

Sensitivity of the District’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount 
Rate – The following presents the District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using 
the discount rate of 6.25 percent, as well as what the District’s proportionate share of the net pension 
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (5.25 percent) 
or 1-percentage-point higher (7.25 percent) than the current rate: 

 

Discount rate 

District’s 
proportionate share 

of net pension 
liability 

1% decrease 5.25% $               432,076 
Current discount rate 6.25% $               345,463 
1% increase 7.25% $               273,272 

 

Payable to the Pension Plan – At December 31, 2019, the District reported a payable of $3,407 for the 
outstanding amount of contributions to the pension plan required for the year ended. The payable includes 
both the pension and insurance contribution allocation. 
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6.   POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS (OPEB) 
 
Plan Description – As more fully described in Note 7, the District participates in the County Employees’ 
Retirement System (CERS). CERS is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan that 
covers substantially all regular full-time members employed in positions of each participating county, city, 
and school board, and any additional eligible local agencies electing to participate in the System. In 
addition to retirement benefits, the plan provides for health insurance benefits to plan members (other 
postemployment benefits or OPEB).  OPEB benefits may be extended to beneficiaries of plan members 
under certain circumstances.   

Contributions – As more fully described in Note 7, plan members contribute to CERS for non-hazardous 
job classifications. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the employer’s contribution was 5.26% 
through June 30th and 4.76% thereafter to the insurance trust for non-hazardous job classifications.  
Employees hired after September 1, 2008 are required to contribute an additional 1% to cover the cost of 
medical insurance that is provided through CERS. Participating employers are required to contribute at an 
actuarially determined rate. Per Kentucky Revised Statute Section 78.545(33), normal contribution and 
past service contribution rates shall be determined by the Board on the basis of an annual valuation last 
proceeding the July 1 of a new biennium.  The Board may amend contribution rates as of the first day of 
July of the second year of a biennium, if it is determined on the basis of a subsequent actuarial valuation 
that amended contribution rates are necessary to satisfy requirements determined in accordance with 
actuarial basis adopted by the Board. The contribution rates are equal to the actuarially determined rate 
set by the Board.  Administrative costs of Kentucky Retirement System are financed through employer 
contributions and investment earnings.  
 
For the year ended December 31, 2019, the District contributed $6,149, or 100% of the required 
contribution for non-hazardous job classifications.   
 
Benefits – CERS provides health insurance benefits to Plan employees and beneficiaries.   
 
For retirement purposes, employees are grouped into three tiers based on hire date: 
 

Tier 1  Participation date  Before July 1, 2003 
 Insurance eligibility 10 years of service credit required  
 Benefit Set percentage of single coverage health insurance 

based on service credit accrued at retirement   
 

Tier 1  Participation date  Before September 1, 2008 but after July 1, 2003 
 Insurance eligibility 10 years of service credit required  
 Benefit Set dollar amount based on service credit accrued, 

increased annually  
 

 Tier 2  Participation date  After September 1, 2008 and before December 31, 2013 
 Insurance eligibility 15 years of service credit required  
 Benefit Set dollar amount based on service credit accrued, 

increased annually 
 

Tier 3  Participation date  After December 31, 2013 
 Insurance eligibility 15 years of service credit required  
 Benefit Set dollar amount based on service credit accrued, 

increased annually 
 

 



NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

December 31, 2019  
_______ 

 

-14- 
 

6. POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS (OPEB) (CONTINUED) 
 
OPEB Liabilities, Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources – At 
December 31, 2019, the District reported a liability for its proportionate share of the net OPEB liability of 
$82,601. The net OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2019, and the total OPEB liability used to 
calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2018 and was 
rolled forward using generally accepted actuarial procedures. The District's proportion of the net OPEB 
liability was based on a projection of the District’s long-term share of contributions to the OPEB plan 
relative to the projected contributions of all participating entities, actuarially determined. The District’s 
proportionate share at June 30, 2019 was .004911 percent, which was an increase of 0.000123 percent 
from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2018.  
 
For the year ended December 31, 2019, the District recognized OPEB expense of $8,675. At December 
31, 2019, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
OPEB from the following sources: 

 
 

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources 

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources 

Differences between expected and actual results $                  - $         24,923 
Changes of assumptions 24,442 163 
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on Plan  
   investments             - 3,669 
Changes in proportion and differences between District 
   contributions and proportionate share of contributions 1,527 2,855 
District contributions subsequent to the measurement date             4,734                     - 
   
Total $      30,703 $       31,610 

 
The $4,734 of deferred outflows of resources resulting from the District’s contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB liability in the year ending 
December 31, 2020. This includes an adjustment of $1,774 related to the implicit subsidy, which is 
required to be recognized as a deferred outflow of resources. Other amounts reported as deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources will be recognized in expense as follows: 

 
Year ending December 31,  

  

2020 $        (1,000) 
2021 $        (1,000) 
2022 $             167 
2023 $        (2,067) 
2024 $        (1,534) 
2025 $           (207) 
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6. POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS (OPEB) (CONTINUED) 
 
Actuarial Assumptions – The total OPEB liability in the June 30, 2019 actuarial valuation was determined 
using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 

Non-hazardous  

Inflation 2.30%  
Salary increases 3.30 to 10.30%, average, including inflation 
Investment rate of return 6.25%, net of Plan investment expense, including inflation 
Healthcare Trend Rates  
   Pre – 65 
 
 

Initial trend starting at 7.00% at January 1, 2019, and 
gradually decreasing to an ultimate trend rate of 4.05% 
over a period of 12 years. 

   Post – 65 
 
 

Initial trend starting at 4.05% at January 1, 2019, and 
gradually decreasing to an ultimate trend rate of 4.05% 
over a period of 10 years. 
 
 

 
The mortality table used for active members was a Pub-2010 General Mortality table, projected with the 
ultimate rates from the MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using a base year of 2010. The mortality 
table used for healthy retired members was a system-specific mortality table based on mortality 
experience from 2013-2018, projected with the ultimate rates from MP-2014 mortality improvement scale 
using a base year of 2019. The mortality table used for the disabled members was PUB-2010 Disabled 
Mortality table, with a 4-year set-forward for both male and female rates, projected with the ultimate rates 
from the MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using a base year of 2010. 
 
The actuarial assumption used in the June 30, 2019 valuation was based on the results of an actuarial 
experience study for the period July 1, 2013 - June 30, 2018. The total OPEB liability was rolled-forward 
from the valuation date (June 30, 2018) to the plan’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2019. 

 
The long-term expected rate of return was determined by using a building-block method in which best 
estimate ranges of expected future real rate of returns are developed for each asset class. The ranges are 
combined by weighting the expected future real rate of return by the target asset allocation percentage.  

 
The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic nominal real rates of return for each major asset 
class are summarized in the following table: 

 
 

Asset Class 

 
Target 

Allocation 

Long-Term 
Expected 

Real Rate of Return 
Growth 62.50%  
   US Equity 18.75% 4.30% 
   Non-US Equity 18.75% 4.80% 
   Private Equity 10.00% 6.65% 
   Special credit/high yield 15.00% 2.60% 
Liquidity  14.50%  
   Core Bonds 13.50% 1.35% 
   Cash 1.00% 0.20% 
Diversifying Strategies 23.00%  
   Real Estate 5.00% 4.85% 
   Opportunistic  3.00% 2.97% 
   Real Return  15.00% 4.10% 
Total 100.00% 6.25% 
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6. POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS (OPEB) (CONTINUED) 
 

Discount Rate – The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2019, was 5.68%, for 
non-hazardous classifications. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that 
local employers would contribute the actuarially determined contribution rate of projected compensation over 
the remaining 24-year amortization period of the unfunded actuarial accrued liability. As of June 30, 2019, the 
discount rate determination used an expected rate of return of 6.25%, and a municipal bond rate of 3.13%, as 
reported in Fidelity Index’s “20 –Year Municipal GO AA Index”.  However, the cost associated with the implicit 
employer subsidy was not included in the calculation of the System’s actuarial determined contributions, and 
any cost associated with the implicit subsidy will not be paid out of the System’s trusts. Therefore, the municipal 
bond rate was applied to future expected benefit payments associated with the implicit subsidy. 

 
Sensitivity of the District’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate – The 
following presents the District’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability calculated using the discount rate 
as well as what the District’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a 
discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current rate: 
 

 

Discount rate 

Proportionate 
share of net OPEB 

liability 
1% decrease 4.68% $          110,651 
Current discount rate 5.68% $            82,601 
1% increase 6.68% $            59,489 

 
Sensitivity of the District’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost 
Trend Rate – The following presents the District’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability calculated using 
healthcare cost trend rates that are 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current 
healthcare cost trend rates: 

 

 

Proportionate 
share of net OPEB 

liability 
1% decrease  $              61,431 
Current trend rate  $              82,601 
1% increase  $            108,272 

 
OPEB plan fiduciary net position – Detailed information about the OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position is available 
in the separately issued financial report. 

 

7.  RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

The District is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; 
errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. In addition to its general liability insurance, 
the District also carries commercial insurance for all other risks of loss such as worker’s compensation and 
employee health and accident coverage. Settled claims resulting from these risks have not exceeded 
commercial insurance coverage in any of the past four fiscal years. 

 
8.  RESTATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

 
During 2019, errors were identified in the prior year report, and beginning net position was restated as follow: 

 
Net position, at beginning of year  $ 2,609,513 

Adjustment to opening cash balance    (37,154) 
Adjustment to reflect accrued interest      (10,935) 
Adjustment to correct prepaid expense      (11,271) 
Adjustment to remove bond issue cost      (49,350) 

  
 Net position, at beginning of year, as restated  $ 2,500,803 
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8.  SUBSEQUENT EVENT 
 

In early 2020, various restrictions have been placed on business and travel across the United States in 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The duration and impact of these restrictions are uncertain as of the date 
of these financial statements. In addition, the Kentucky Public Service Commission issued an order that halts 
all disconnections for non-payment and fees for late payment.  Management of the District is evaluating the 
impact of COVID-19 and related responses on the operations and finances of the District. The District is 
evaluating any potential impact, however a specific estimate of the impact could not reasonably be determined 
due to a number of unknown factors regarding the severity and duration of the event. 

 



REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION



NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE 

PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY
Last Two Calendar Years

_____

2018 2019

District’s proportion of the net pension liability 0.004788% 0.004912%
District’s proportionate share of the net pension 

liability (asset) 291,604$      345,463$  
District’s covered employee payroll 125,394$      123,914$  
District’s share of the net pension liability (asset)

as a percentage of its covered employee payroll 232.55% 278.79%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage 

of the total pension liability 53.54% 50.45%

Notes:
There were no changes in benefit terms.  However, the following changes in assumptions 
were modified as of the June 30, 2019 valuation:

The assumed rate of salary increases were increased from 3.05%, to 3.3% to 10.3%, on average.

The District's covered payroll reported above is payroll for the corresponding measurement date of the net pension 
liability and differs from the District's calendar year payroll, reported on the Schedule of Contributions.  

The measurement date of the net pension liability is 6 months preceding the calendar year of the District.

The above schedule will present 10 years of historical data, once available.
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NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT
 REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY 

SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS - PENSION
Last Two Calendar Years

_____

2018 2019
Contractually required employer    

contribution 19,088$       21,835$        
Contributions relative to contractually 

required employer contribution 19,088         21,835          

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                -$                  

District’s covered employee payroll 124,221$     122,809$      
Employer contributions as a percentage

 of covered-employee payroll 15.37% 17.78%

Notes:
There were no changes in benefit terms.  However, the following changes in assumptions 
were modified as of the June 30, 2019 valuation:

The assumed rate of salary increases were increased from 3.05%, to 3.3% to 10.3%, on average.

Contractually required employer contributions exclude the portion of contributions paid to CERS but 
allocated to the insurance fund of the CERS.  The above contributions only include those contributions 
allocated directly to the CERS pension fund.

The District's covered payroll reported above is payroll for the District's corresponding calendar year and differs 
from the covered payroll reported on the Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability.

The above schedule will present 10 years of historical data, once available.
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NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE

PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET OPEB LIABILITY
Last Two Calendar Years

_____

2018 2019

District’s proportion of the net OPEB liability 0.004788% 0.004911%
District’s proportionate share of the net OPEB

liability (asset) 85,010$      82,601$      
District’s covered employee payroll 125,394$    123,914$    
District’s share of the net OPEB liability (asset) as a 

percentage of its covered employee payroll 67.79% 66.66%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage 

of the total OPEB liability 57.62% 60.44%

Notes:
There were no changes in benefit terms.  However, the following changes in assumptions 
were modified as of the June 30, 2019 valuation:

The assumed rate of salary increases were increased from 3.05%, to 3.3% to 10.3%, on average.

The District's covered payroll reported above is payroll for the corresponding measurement date of the net pension 
liability and differs from the District's calendar year payroll, reported on the Schedule of Contributions.  

The measurement date of the net OPEB liability is 6 months preceding the calendar year of the District.

The above schedule will present 10 years of historical data, once available.
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NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY 
SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS - OPEB

Last Two Calendar Years
_____

2018 2019
Contractually required employer    

contribution 6,193$       6,149$       
Contributions relative to contractually 

required employer contribution 6,193         6,149         

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$               -$               

District’s covered employee payroll 124,221$   122,809$   

Employer contributions as a percentage

 of covered-employee payroll 4.99% 5.01%

Notes:
There were no changes in benefit terms.  However, the following changes in assumptions 
were modified as of the June 30, 2019 valuation:

The assumed rate of salary increases were increased from 3.05%, to 3.3% to 10.3%, on average.

The District's covered payroll reported above is payroll for the District's corresponding calendar year and differs 
from the covered payroll reported on the Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability.

The above schedule will present 10 years of historical data, once available.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
 FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 

BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED 
 IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS  

 
The Board of Commissioners 
Nicholas County Water District 
Carlisle, Kentucky 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the Nicholas County 
Water District (the District), as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes to the 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements and have issued 
our report thereon dated August 20, 2020. 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the District’s internal control 
over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management 
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s 
financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant 
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a 
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may 
exist that have not been identified. We did identify a certain deficiencies in internal control, described in the 
accompanying schedule of findings and responses that we consider to be material weaknesses (2019-001, 
2019-002, and 2019-003). 

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District’s financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The 
results of our tests disclosed instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported 
under Government Auditing Standards. 

Members American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
and Kentucky Society of Certified Public Accountants 

RFH, PLLC  •  300 West Vine Street, Suite 800  •  Lexington, Kentucky 40507-1812 
Phone: 859-231-1800  •  Fax: 859-422-1800  •  Toll-Free: 1-800-342-7299                                         www.rfhcpas.com 
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Nicholas County Water District’s Response to Findings 

The District’s response to the finding identified in our audit is described in the accompanying schedule of 
findings and responses. Nicholas County Water District’s response was not subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
RFH, PLLC 
Lexington, Kentucky 
August 20, 2020 
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2019-001 - The District should have internal controls in place that enable it to prepare complete 
financial statements.  
 
Criteria: The District is required to have internal controls in place that enable it to prepare complete financial 
statements, including note disclosures, in compliance with generally accepted accounting principles. 
 
Condition: Management engaged the auditor to prepare draft financial statements, including the related 
notes to the financial statements.   
 
Cause: The District lacks personnel with the expertise to draft the financial statements, including the related 
note disclosures, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.   
 
Effect: The auditor prepared draft financial statements, including the related notes to the financial 
statements.  Management reviewed, approved and accepted responsibility for the financial statements prior 
to their issuance. 
 
Recommendation: We recommend management review the costs and benefits involved to retain a 
consultant with the required expertise to prepare the financial statements. 
 
Response: Management has determined that it is more cost effective to continue to engage the auditor to 
draft the financial statements and related notes. Management has reviewed and accepts responsibility for 
the financial statements.  
 
2019-002 - All bank accounts should be reconciled monthly to the District's financial records. 
 
Criteria: All bank accounts should be reconciled to the District's financial records monthly. 
 
Condition: Multiple bank accounts were not reconciled for several months and transactions were not 
recorded accurately.  
 
Cause: The office staff has not been properly trained to utilize the accounting system used by the District. 
 
Effect: Auditors identified several bank accounts that were not reconciled timely. Numerous material audit 
adjustments were needed in order for the District's year end financial statements to be fairly presented. 
 
Recommendation: We recommend that the District take steps to ensure that all bank accounts are 
reconciled monthly and that all financial activity is recorded accurately. We recommend the District obtain 
outside bookkeeping assistance until the office staff is properly trained to perform these functions. 
 
Response: The office personnel will no longer use previous employee's reconciliation procedures.  Current 
personnel have made arrangements for online training from accounting software provider to begin 
immediately. 
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2019-003 -  Lack of segregation of duties  
 
Criteria: The basic premise of segregation of duties is that no one employee should have access to both 
physical assets and the related accounting records or to all phases of a transaction.  In addition, proper 
segregation of duties should include oversight of the finance personnel activity by individuals with 
knowledge of internal controls and accounting regulations, who were not involved in the original transaction. 
 
Condition: During the audit, we noted that the Organization lacks segregation of duties in multiple 
accounting functions. 
 
Cause: The Organization has only two dedicated employees to finance and accounting. 
 
Effect: There is a lack of oversight over the office employees and the transactions being recorded. 
 
Recommendation: We recommend that the District appoint a commissioner to perform increased oversight 
and monitoring of the financial reporting functions.  A common method for achieving this goal is for a 
commissioner to review the District's bank statements, payroll registers, credit card statements and other 
financial information such as water adjustments on a monthly basis.  While not a preventative control, this 
increased oversight can detect irregularities in the financial reporting function that are caused by a lack of 
segregation of duties within a relatively short period of time. 
 
Response: A commissioner will be appointed to review the monthly financial packet and will work in close 
contact with office employees. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

 
Board of Commissioners 
Nicholas County Water District 
Carlisle, Kentucky 
 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type activities of the Nicholas County Water District 
as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018, which comprise the District’s basic financial statements as listed in the 
table of contents. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Nicholas County Water District’s management. 
Our responsibility is to an express opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to 
financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial 
position of the business-type activities of the Nicholas County Water District, as of December 31, 2018, and the respective 
changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
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Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 
Management has omitted the Management’s Discussion and Analysis that accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America require to be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such missing information, 
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who 
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic and historical context. Our opinion on the basic financial statements is not affected by this missing 
information. 
 
The Schedule of the Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability, the Schedule of Employer’s Contributions – Net Pension 
Liability, Schedule of the Proportionate Share of Net OPEB Liability and the Schedule of Employer’s Contributions – Net 
OPEB Liability are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which 
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained 
during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information 
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated May 20, 2019, on our 
consideration of the Nicholas County Water District’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of 
that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results 
of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an 
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Nicholas County 
Water District’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

John T. Lane & Associates LLC 
Mount Sterling, Kentucky 

September 13, 2019 
This report contains 25 pages.  
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Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents - unrestricted 282,279$      
Cash and cash equivalents - restricted 101,604        
Accounts receivable - net of allowance for doubtful accounts 57,696          
Inventory 17,399          
Prepaid expenses 12,668          

Total Current Assets 471,646        

Noncurrent Assets
Capital assets:
Land 20,997          
Plant, equipment and lines 8,896,852     

Accumulated depreciation (3,962,685)    

Total Noncurrent Assets 4,955,164     

Other Assets
Bond issue costs 59,929          

Accumulated amortization (10,579)         

Total Other Assets 49,350          

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred Outflows of Resources - NPL 62,047          
Deferred Outflows of Resources - OPEB 21,678          

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 83,725          
Total Assets & Deferred Outflows of Resources 5,559,885$   

Current Liabilities
Accrued expenses 30,765$        
Bonds/loans payable 97,500          
Customer deposits 31,395          

Total Current Liabilities 159,660        

Noncurrent Liabilities
Bonds/loans payable 2,362,000     
Net pension liability 291,604        
Net OPEB liability 85,010          

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 2,738,614     

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Deferred Inflows of Resources - NPL 32,610          

Deferred Inflows of Resources - OPEB 19,488          

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 52,098          

Total Liabilities & Deferred Inflows of Resources 2,950,372     

Net investment in capital assets 2,545,014     
Restricted 70,209          
Unrestricted (5,710)           

Total Net Position 2,609,513$   

NET POSITION

Nicholas County Water District
Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Fund
December 31, 2018

LIABILITIES and DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

ASSETS and DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

The accompanying notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Revenues
User fees 765,513$        
Other revenue 36,316            

Total Revenues 801,829          

Expenses
Salaries 87,738            
Employee benefits 21,544            
Retirement 51,551            
Water purchased 292,285          
Power purchased 19,800            
Materials and supplies 45,753            
Water testing 4,348              
Contractural services 42,587            
Transportation expenses 5,557              
Insurance 23,683            
Miscellaneous expenses 32,200            
Utilities 570                 
Phone 6,564              
Taxes 31,683            
Depreciation and amortization 197,469          

Total Operating Expenses 863,332          

Operating Income (Loss) (61,503)           

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

Capital grants 633,915          
Interest income 1,780              
Interest expense (88,100)           

Net Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 547,595          

Change in Net Position 486,092          

Total Net Position - beginning 2,223,978       

Prior period adjustment (100,557)         

Total Net Position - ending 2,609,513$     

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
Nicholas County Water District

For the year ended December 31, 2018
Proprietary Fund

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
4



CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Operating revenues 792,693$      
Cash paid to employees (87,738)        
Cash paid for general and administrative expenses (573,911)      

Net Cash provided / (used) by operating activities 131,044        

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Interest earned 1,780            
Customer deposits 1,540            

Net Cash provided / (used) by investing activities 3,320            

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Capital grants 633,915        
Bond/note payments - principal (86,500)        
Purchase of capital assets (533,915)      
Bond/note payments - interest (88,100)        

Net Cash provided / (used) by capital and financing activities (74,600)        

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 59,764          

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - BEGINNING OF YEAR 324,119        

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF THE YEAR 383,883$      

RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net Operating Income (61,503)$      
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:

depreciation and amortization 197,469        
GASB 68/75 pension expense adjustment 5,532            
(increase) / decrease in accounts receivable (9,136)          
increase / (decrease) in accounts payable (1,318)          

Net cash provided / (used) by operating activities 131,044$      

Statement of Cash Flows
Nicholas County Water District

December 31, 2018
Proprietary Fund

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

December 31, 2018 

 
The Nicholas County  Water District is a water utility which services areas of Nicholas County.  Its sales are primarily to 
residential customers.  The District is a corporate body set forth in Kentucky Revised Statues (KRS) 74.070 which was 
created in 1966.  The District began operations in 1966.  The District is subject to the regulatory authority of the Kentucky 
Public Service Commission pursuant to KRS 278.040. 

 
Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
The accounting policies of the District conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
as applicable to governments.  The following is a summary of the more significant policies. 
 
The Reporting Entity 
The District, for financial purposes, includes all of the funds relevant to the operations of the District.  The financial 
statements presented herein do not include agencies which have been formed under applicable state laws or separate 
and distinct units of government apart from the Nicholas County Water District. 
 
The financial statements of the District would include those of separately administered organizations that are controlled by 
or dependent on the District.  Control or dependence is determined on the basis of financial interdependency, selection of 
governing District, designation of management, ability to significantly influence operations, accountability of fiscal matters, 
scope of public service, and financing relations. 
 
Based on the foregoing criteria there are no other organizations included in these financial statements. 
 
Enterprise Funds 
An enterprise fund distinguishes operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items.  Operating revenues and 
expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with the District’s 
principal ongoing operations.  The principal operating revenues of the District are operating grants and tenant rental 
revenue.  Operating expenses of the District include the cost of producing the revenue and services, administrative 
expenses, and depreciation on capital assets.  All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-
operating revenues and expenses. 
 
Enterprise Funds are used to account for operations (a) that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private 
business enterprise where the intent of the governing body is that the costs (expenses, including depreciation) of providing 
goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user charges or 
(b) where the governing body has decided that periodic determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred, and/or net 
income is appropriate for capital maintenance, public policy, management control, accountability, or other purposes. 
 
The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to the District is determined by its measurement focus.  The 
transactions of the District are accounted for on a flow of economic resources measurement focus.  With this measurement 
focus, all assets and all liabilities associated with the operations are included on the balance sheet.  Net position (i.e., total 
assets net of total liabilities) is segmented into net investment in capital assets, restricted and unrestricted components.  
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the District’s policy to use unrestricted resources 
first, and then restricted resources as they are needed. 
 
Basis of Accounting 
The records of the District are maintained, and the budgetary process is based on the accrual method of accounting. 
 
Inventory 
The cost of inventory is recorded as a disbursement at the time of payment for the purchase. 
 
Deposits 
The District considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity date of twelve months or less from the date of purchase 
to be cash equivalents. Certificates of deposit that are redeemable immediately with little or no penalty are considered 
cash equivalents.  At December 31, 2018, the carrying amount of the District’s deposits was $383,883 and the bank 
balance was $326,228.  Of the bank balance, 100% was covered by federal deposit insurance or collateralized with 
securities held by the pledging financial institution’s trust department or agent in the entity’s name.   
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Description Total Restricted Unrestricted
Certificates of deposit 198,381$     -$              198,381$       
NCWD City Bank 13,841        -                13,841           
NCWD escrow 37,555        37,555       -                   
NCWD operations & maintenance 43,813        -                43,813           
NCWD Revenue 1,232          -                1,232            
NCWD Sinking Fund Whitaker 11,947        11,947       -                   
NCWD Savings 25,012        -                25,012           
NCWD Phase 10 Water Project -                 -                -                   
NCWD Phase 11 Water Project 9                9               -                   
NCWD Depreciation Reserve Fund 52,093        52,093       -                   

Totals 383,883$     101,604$   282,279$       

Summary of Cash & Cash Equivalents

 
 
Capital Assets 
Capital assets purchased are capitalized at the time of purchase.  Such assets are recorded at cost.  Donated assets are 
recorded at fair market value at the date of donation. 
Depreciation of property and equipment is computed by the straight-line method based upon the estimated useful lives of 
the assets as follows: 

 
Class   Useful Life 
Water lines, tanks    40-50 years 
Equipment  5-10 years 
 
The District’s capitalization policy is as follows:  expenditures costing more than $1,000 with an estimated useful life greater 
than one year are capitalized; all others are expensed.   
 
Amortization 
Bond issue costs are being amortized and charged to expense over the life of the outstanding revenue bonds by use of 
the straight-line method. 
 
Net Position 
Net position represents the difference between assets and liabilities.  Net investment in capital assets consists of capital 
assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balance of any borrowing used for the acquisition, 
construction or improvement of those assets.  Net position is recorded as restricted when there are limitations imposed on 
their use by external restrictions. 
 
Accounts Receivable 
The receivable reflected in the statements in the amount of $57,696 is net of allowance for uncollectible accounts in the 
amount of $43,641. 
 
Use of Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenditures during the reporting period.  
Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Pensions 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the County Employees’ 
Retirement System (CERS) and additions to/deductions from CERS’ fiduciary net position have been determined on the 
same basis as they are reported by CERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee 
contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair 
value. 
 

Note 2 - Notes Payable 
The amount shown in the accompanying financial statements as notes payable represents the District's future obligation 
to make loan payments from future revenues.  At December 31, 2018, four separate loans had outstanding balances.  
Details of each of these issues are summarized as follows: 
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(A)  
Lender – Kentucky Rural Water Finance Corporation (KRWFC) 
Original loan amount - $1,775,000 
Balance of loan - $1,610,000 
Rate – 2.10-4.10% 
Principle due January 1 
Interest due January 1 and July 1  
Prepayment provision - subject to payment prior to its stated maturity without penalty or premium, at any time upon ten 
(10) days’ notice. 

 
Schedule of future payments: 

Principal Interest Trustee Fees Total Payment

2019 65,000$        58,103$        450$            123,553$      
2020 65,000          56,088          450              121,538        
2021 70,000          53,971          450              124,421        
2022 70,000          48,128          450              118,578        
2023 75,000          48,128          450              123,578        

2024-2028 405,000        198,697        2,250           605,947        
2029-2033 485,000        121,826        2,250           609,076        
2034-2038 290,000        41,725          2,250           333,975        
2039-2041 85,000          3,588           900              89,488          

Total 1,610,000$   630,254$      9,900$          2,250,154$    
 

(B) 
Lender – Kentucky Rural Water Finance Corporation (KRWFC) 
Original balance of loan - $185,000 
Balance of loan - $140,000 
Rate – 2.10-4.10% 
Principle due January 1 
Interest due January 1 and July 1  
Prepayment provision - subject to payment prior to its stated maturity without penalty or premium, at any time upon ten 
(10) days’ notice. 
 
Schedule of future payments: 

Principal Interest Total Payment

2019 20,000$        4,730$          24,730$        
2020 20,000          4,110           24,110          
2021 20,000          3,490           23,490          
2022 20,000          5,860           25,860          
2023 20,000          1,850           21,850          

2024-2025 40,000          1,340           41,340          

Total 140,000$      21,380$        161,380$       
 
(C) 
Lender – United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) – Rural Development 
Original balance of loan - $555,000 
Balance of loan - $538,000 
Rate – 2.75% 
Principle due January 1 
Interest due January 1 and July 1  
Prepayment provision - subject to payment prior to its stated maturity without penalty or premium, at any time upon ten 
(10) days’ notice. 

 
Continued on next page 
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Schedule of future payments: 
Principal Interest Total Payment

2019 9,000$          14,671$        23,671$        
2020 9,000           14,424          23,424          
2021 9,500           14,169          23,669          
2022 9,500           13,908          23,408          
2023 10,000          13,640          23,640          

2024-2028 54,000          63,897          117,897        
2029-2033 61,500          55,955          117,455        
2034-2038 71,000          46,848          117,848        
2039-2043 81,000          36,398          117,398        
2044-2048 92,500          24,511          117,011        
2049-2053 106,000        10,905          116,905        

2054 25,000          344              25,344          

Total 538,000$      309,670$      847,670$       
 
(D) 
Lender – United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) – Rural Development 
Original balance of loan - $203,000 
Balance of loan - $171,500 
Rate – 4.125% 
Principle due January 1 
Interest due January 1 and July 1  
Prepayment provision - subject to payment prior to its stated maturity without penalty or premium, at any time upon ten 
(10) days’ notice. 
 
Schedule of future payments: 

Principal Interest Total Payment

2019 3,500$          6,930$          10,430$        
2020 4,000           6,786           10,786          
2021 4,000           6,621           10,621          
2022 4,000           6,456           10,456          
2023 4,500           6,291           10,791          

2024-2028 25,000          28,545          53,545          
2029-2033 30,500          22,956          53,456          
2034-2038 37,000          16,219          53,219          
2039-2043 45,500          7,858           53,358          

2044 13,500          413              13,913          

Total 171,500$      109,075$      280,575$       
 
The following is a summary of changes in long-term obligations for the year: 

Outstanding Outstanding Due Within
1/1/2018 Issued Retired 12/31/2018 One Year

Rural Development 721,000$          -$                11,500$       709,500$      12,500$        
KRWFC 1,825,000         75,000       1,750,000   85,000         

Total 2,546,000$       -$               86,500$      2,459,500$  97,500$        

 

Note 3 – Defined Benefit Pension Plan 

General Information About the Pension Plan 

Plan description - Regular, full-time, employees of the Water District are provided with pensions through the County 
Employees’ Retirement System (CERS)—a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by 
the Kentucky Retirement System.  The assets of CERS are pooled with two other retirement systems Kentucky Retirement 
System administers, KERS & SPRS. Although invested each system’s assets are used only for the members of that plan. 
Kentucky Revised Statute (KRS) chapter 61 grants the authority to establish and amend the benefit terms to the Kentucky 
Retirement System’s Board of Trustees (Board). Kentucky Retirement System issues a publicly available financial report 
that can be obtained on their website. 
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Benefits provided - CERS provides retirement, insurance, disability, and death benefits. Retirement benefits are 
determined from an average of the five highest years of compensation for those whose participation began before 
September 01, 2008. For those who began participation on or after September 01, 2008 retirement benefits are determined 
as an average of the last complete five years. A percentage is then taken from those averages based on the employee’s 
months of service. Employees are eligible for service-related disability benefits with at least 60 months of service. If the 
member is receiving monthly benefits based on at least four years of service, then a $5,000 death benefit is payable to 
the member’s designated beneficiary. For those employees whose participation began prior to July 01, 2003, CERS will 
pay a portion of the monthly premium for single coverage based upon service credit accrued at retirement. For those 
employees whose participation began on or after July 01, 2003 and before September 01, 2008, employees are required 
to earn at least 10 years of service credit to be eligible for insurance benefits. Employees whose participation began on or 
after September 01, 2008 must earn at least 15 years of service credit to be eligible for insurance benefits.  

Membership in the CERS Non-hazardous Pension Fund consisted of the following at June 30, 2018, the date of the latest 
actuarial valuation:  

Membership Status 
Inactive plan members currently receiving benefits 56,629 
Inactive plan members entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 81,608 
Active plan members 84,435 
   Total plan members 222,672 

Cost of living adjustments to monthly retirement allowance must be approved by the Kentucky State Legislature 
(Legislature) and requires the system to be either 100% funded or appropriations are made to cover the increase are by 
the Legislature. 

Contributions - Employees are required to contribute 5% of their annual pay. Employees whose participation began on or 
after September 01, 2008 are required to contribute an additional 1%. This additional 1% is credited to the insurance fund 
and is non-refundable. The Water District’s contractually required contribution rate for the year ended December 31, 2018 
was 19.18%/21.48 (14.48%/16.22% pension; 4.70%/5.26% insurance) of annual payroll, actuarially determined as an 
amount that, when combined with employee contributions, is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by 
employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. Contributions to the 
pension plan from the Water District were $25,281 for the year ended December 31, 2018.  The contribution was allocated 
$19,088 to the pension fund and $6,193 to the insurance fund. 

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources 

Related to Pensions 

At December 31, 2018, the reported a liability of $291,604 for its proportionate share of the net pension liability. The net 
pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2018, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability 
was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The Water District’s portion of the net pension liability was based 
on the Water District’s proportionate share of retirement contributions for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. At June 30, 
2018 the Water District’s proportionate share was 0.004788%. 

Since certain expense items are amortized over closed periods each year, the deferred portions of these items must be 
tracked annually.  If the amounts serve to reduce pension expense they are labeled deferred inflows.  If they will increase 
pension expense they are labeled deferred outflows.  The amortization of these amounts is accomplished on a level dollar 
basis, with no interest included in the deferred amounts. Experience gains/losses and the impact of changes in actuarial 
assumptions, if any, are amortized over the average remaining service life of the active and inactive System members at 
the beginning of the fiscal year.  Investment gains and losses are amortized over a fixed five-year period. For the year 
ended December 31, 2018, the Water District recognized pension expense of $41,380. At December 31, 2018, the Water 
District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following 
sources: 
 Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows 
 of Resources of Resources 
 
Differences between expected and actual Liability Experience $    9,511 4,268 

Changes in assumptions 28,498 -0- 

Differences between expected and actual Investment Experience 13,560 17,056 
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Changes in proportion and differences between employer contributions 
 and proportionate share of contributions 213 11,286 

Contributions subsequent to the measurement date         10,265             -0- 

 Total $    62,047 $     32,610 

$10,265 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from the Water District’s contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended 
December 31, 2019. The remaining amount of $19,172 reported as the net effect of deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

      Year Ended      Amount 

 December 31, 2019 $   18,090 

 December 31, 2020 7,404 

 December 31, 2021 (4,757) 

 December 31, 2022 (1,565) 

 December 31, 2023 -0- 

 Thereafter              -0- 

 Total $ 71,293 

Actuarial methods & assumptions: For financial reporting, the actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2018, was performed 
by Gabriel Roeder Smith (GRS). The total pension liability, net pension liability, and sensitivity information as of June 30, 
2018 were based on an actuarial valuation date of June 30, 2017.  The total pension liability was rolled-forward from the 
valuation date (June 30, 2017) to the plan’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2018, using generally accepted actuarial principles. 

There have been no changes in actuarial assumptions since June 30, 2017.  The actuarial assumptions are: 
 
Inflation  2.30% 
Salary Increases  3.05% 
Investment Rate of Return                   6.25% for CERS Non-hazardous,  and hazardous, and 
KERS Hazardous, 5.25% for KERS Non-hazardous 

However, during the 2018 legislative session, House Bill 185 was enacted, which updated the benefit provisions for active 
members who die in the line of duty. Benefits paid to the spouses of deceased members have been increased from 
25% of the member’s final rate of pay to 75% of the member’s average pay. If the member does not have a surviving 
spouse, benefits paid to surviving dependent children have been increased from 10% of the member’s final pay rate to 
50% of average pay for one child, 65% of average pay for two children, or 75% of average pay for three children. The 
Total Pension Liability as of June 30, 2018 is determined using these updated benefit provisions. 
 
The mortality table used for active members is RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 2013 
(multiplied by 50% for males and 30% for females).  For healthy retired members and beneficiaries, the mortality table 
used is the RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to  2013 (set-back  for one  year for females).    
For disabled  members,  the RP-2000  Combined Disabled Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 2013 (set-back 
four years for males) is used for the period after disability retirement. 

The following actuarial methods and assumptions were used to determine the actuarially determined contributions 
effective for fiscal year ending June 30, 2018: 

 
Valuation Date                               June 30, 2016 
Experience Study                           July 1, 2008 - June 30, 2013 
Actuarial Cost Method  Entry Age Normal 
Amortization Method  Level percent of pay 
Remaining Amortization Period  27 years, Closed 
Payroll Growth Rate  4.00% 
 20% of the difference between the market value of assets and the 
expected actuarial value of assets is recognized 

Inflation                                         3.25% 
Salary Increase                            4.00% average 
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Investment Rate of Return              7.50% for CERS Non-hazardous, CERS Hazardous, and 
KERS Hazardous, 6.75% for KERS Non-hazardous 

 

The mortality table used for active members is RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 2013 
(multiplied by 50% for males and 30% for females).  For healthy retired members and beneficiaries, the mortality table 
used is the RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to  2013 (set-back  for one  year for females).    
For disabled  members,  the RP-2000  Combined Disabled Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 2013 (set-back 
four years for males) is used for the period after disability retirement. 

The long-term expected rate of return was determined by using a building-block method in which best- estimate ranges 
of expected future real rate of returns are developed for each asset class.  The ranges are combined by weighting the 
expected future real rate of return by the target asset allocation percentage. The target allocation and best estimates of 
arithmetic real rate of return for each major asset class are summarized in the tables below. 

  Long-Term Expected 
Asset Class______________ Target Allocation               Real Rate of Return 
US Equity 17.50%  
  US Large Cap 5.00% 4.50% 
  US Mid Cap 6.00% 4.50% 
  US Small Cap 6.50% 5.50% 
Non US Equity 17.50%  
  International Developed 12.50% 6.50% 
  Emerging Markets 5.00% 7.25% 
Global Bonds 4.00% 3.00% 
Credit Fixed 24.00%  
  Global IG Credit 2.00% 3.75% 
  High Yield 7.00% 5.50% 
  EMD 5.00% 6.00% 
  Illiquid Private 10.00% 8.50% 
Private Equity 10.00% 6.50% 
Real Estate 5.00% 9.00% 
Absolute Return 10.00% 5.00% 
Real Return 10.00% 7.00% 
Cash 2.00% 1.50% 
Total 100.00% 6.09%                               

Discount rate - The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate of 5.25% for the KERS Non-hazardous, 
and 6.25% for KERS Hazardous, CERS Non-hazardous, and CERS Hazardous assumed that local employers would 
contribute the actuarially determined contribution rate of projected compensation over the remaining 25 years (closed) 
amortization period of the unfunded actuarial accrued liability. The discount rate determination does not use a municipal 
bond rate. The target asset allocation and best estimates of arithmetic nominal rates of return for each major asset class 
are summarized in the CAFR. 

Sensitivity of the Water District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate - The 
following presents the net pension liability of the System, calculated using the discount rate of percent, as well as what 
the System’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1- percentage-point lower (5.25 
percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (7.25 percent) than the current rate for non-hazardous:  
 

 1% Current 1% 
 Decrease Discount Rate Increase 
 5.25% 6.25% 7.25% 
 
Proportionate share 

of the net pension liability $  367,099 $ 291,604 $ 228,352 
 

Pension plan fiduciary net position - Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the 
separately issued CERS financial report.  

Note 4 - Other Postemployment Benefits Plan (OPEB) 
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Under the provisions of Kentucky Revised Statute 61.645, the Board of Trustees of Kentucky Retirement Systems 
administers the Kentucky Employees Retirement System (KERS), County Employees Retirement System (CERS), and 
State Police Retirement System (SPRS) is a participating employer of the CERS. The plan issues publicly available 
financial statements which may be downloaded from the Kentucky Retirement Systems website. 

Plan Description - The Kentucky Retirement Systems' (KRS) Insurance Fund was established to provide hospital and 
medical insurance for eligible members receiving benefits from KERS, CERS and SPRS. Although the assets of the 
systems are invested as a whole, each system's assets are used only for the payment of benefits to the members of that 
plan and the administrative costs incurred by those receiving an insurance benefit. 

The CERS Non-hazardous Insurance Fund is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit Other Postemployment 
Benefits (OPEB) plan that covers substantially all regular full-time members employed in positions of each participating 
county, city and school board, and any additional eligible local agencies electing to participate in the System. The plan 
provides for health insurance benefits to plan members. OPEB may be extended to beneficiaries of plan members under 
certain circumstances.  

Actuarial Methods & Assumptions - For financial reporting the actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2018, was performed 
by Gabriel Roeder Smith (GRS). The total OPEB liability, net OPEB liability, and sensitivity information as of June 30, 
2018, were based on an actuarial valuation date of June 30, 2017. The total OPEB liability was rolled- forward from the 
valuation date (June 30, 2017) to the plan’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2018, using generally accepted actuarial principles.  
There have been no changes in actuarial assumptions since June 30, 2017 (other than the blended discount rate used 
to calculate the total OPEB liability). However, during the 2018 legislative session, House Bill 185 was enacted, which 
updated the benefit provisions for active members who die in the line of duty. The system shall now pay 100% of the 
insurance premium for spouses and children of all active members who die in the line of duty. The total OPEB liability 
as of June 30, 2018, is determined using these updated benefit provisions. 

There have been no changes in actuarial assumptions since June 30, 2017. The actuarial assumptions are: 

Inflation  2.30% 

Payroll Growth Rate  0.0% for KERS non-hazardous and hazardous, and 2.0% for CERS 

non-hazardous and hazardous 
Salary Increases  3.05%, average 
Investment Rate of Return  6.25% Healthcare 
Trend Rates 

Pre - 65  Initial trend starting at 7.00% at January 1, 2020, and gradually decreasing to 
an ultimate trend rate of 4.05% over a period of 12 years. 

Post - 65  Initial trend starting at 5.00% at January 1, 2020, and gradually decreasing to 
an ultimate trend rate of 4.05% over a period of 10 years. 

The mortality table used for active members is RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 2013 
(multiplied by 50% for males and 30% for females).  For healthy retired members and beneficiaries, the mortality table 
used is the RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to  2013 (set-back  for one  year for females).    
For disabled  members,  the RP-2000  Combined Disabled Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 2013 (set-back 
four years for males) is used for the period after disability retirement. 

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return - The long-term expected rate of return was determined by using a building-block 
method in which best- estimate ranges of expected future real rate of returns are developed for each asset class.  The 
ranges are combined by weighting the expected future real rate of return by the target asset allocation percentage. The 
target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rate of return for each major asset class are summarized in the 
tables below.  

  Long-Term Expected 
Asset Class______________ Target Allocation               Real Rate of Return 
US Equity 17.50%  
  US Large Cap 5.00% 4.50% 
  US Mid Cap 6.00% 4.50% 
  US Small Cap 6.50% 5.50% 
Non US Equity 17.50%  
  International Developed 12.50% 6.50% 
  Emerging Markets 5.00% 7.25% 
Global Bonds 4.00% 3.00% 
Credit Fixed 24.00%  
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  Global IG Credit 2.00% 3.75% 
  High Yield 7.00% 5.50% 
  EMD 5.00% 6.00% 
  Illiquid Private 10.00% 8.50% 
Private Equity 10.00% 6.50% 
Real Estate 5.00% 9.00% 
Absolute Return 10.00% 5.00% 
Real Return 10.00% 7.00% 
Cash 2.00% 1.50% 
Total 100.00% 6.09%                               

Discount Rate - The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate of 5.86% for KERS Non-hazardous, 
5.88%  for  KERS  Hazardous,  5.85%  for  CERS  Non-hazardous,  and  5.97%  for  CERS  Hazardous assumed that 
local employers would contribute the actuarially determined contribution rate of projected compensation  over  the  
remaining  25  years  (closed)  amortization  period  of  the  unfunded  actuarial accrued liability.  The discount rate 
determination used an expected rate of return of 6.25%, and a municipal bond rate of 3.62%, as reported in Fidelity 
Index’s “20-Year Municipal GO AA Index” as of June 30, 2018.  However, the cost associated with the implicit employer 
subsidy was not included in the calculation of the System’s actuarial determined contributions, and any cost associated 
with the implicit subsidy will not be paid out of the System’s trusts.  Therefore, the municipal bond rate was applied to 
future expected benefit payments associated with the implicit subsidy.  The target asset allocation and best estimates 
of arithmetic nominal rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the CAFR. 

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of the Schedules - The preparation of the schedules in conformity with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles requires management to make significant estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of additions and deductions during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

The following actuarial methods and assumptions, for actuarially determined contributions effective for the fiscal 
year ending June 30, 2018: 

 
Valuation Date June 30, 2016 
Experience Study July 1, 2008 - June 30, 2013 
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal Amortization 
Method Level Percent of Pay Remaining 
Amortization Period 27 Years, Closed Payroll Growth 
Rate 4.00% 
Asset Valuation Method 20% of the difference between the market value of assets and the expected 

actuarial value of assets is recognized 
Inflation 3.25% 
Salary Increases 4.00%, average 

Investment Rate of Return 7.50% Healthcare Trend Rates 
Pre - 65 Initial trend starting at 7.50% and gradually decreasing to an ultimate trend rate of 

5.00% over a period of 5 years. 
Post - 65 Initial trend starting at 5.50% and gradually decreasing to an ultimate trend rate of 

5.00% over a period of 2 years. 

The mortality table used for active members is RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 2013 
(multiplied by 50% for males and 30% for females). For healthy retired  members  and  beneficiaries,  the  mortality  
table  used  is  the  RP-2000  Combined Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 2013 (set-back for one year for 
females).   For disabled members, the RP-2000 Combined Disabled Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 2013 (set-
back four years for males) is used for the period after disability retirement. 

Implicit Subsidy - The fully-insured premiums KRS pays for the KERS, CERS and SPRS Health Insurance Plans are 
blended rates based on the combined experience of active and retired members. Since the average cost of providing 
health care benefits to retirees under age 65 is higher than the average cost of providing health care benefits to active 
employees, there is an implicit employer subsidy for non-Medicare eligible retirees. Participating employers should adjust 
their contributions by the implicit subsidy in order to determine the total employer contribution for GASB Statement No. 75 
purposes.   This adjustment is needed for contributions made during the measurement period and for the purpose of 
deferred outflows related to contributions made after the measurement date. The Water District’s implicit subsidy for the 
year ended December 31, 2018 was $1,238. 
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Contributions - Participating employers are required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate. Per Kentucky Revised 
Statute Section 78.545(33), normal contribution and past service contribution rates shall be determined by the Board on 
the basis of an annual valuation last preceding July 1 of a new biennium. The Board may amend contribution rates as of 
the first day of July of the second year of a biennium if it is determined on the basis of a subsequent actuarial valuation 
that amended contributions rates are necessary to satisfy requirements determined in accordance with actuarial bases 
adopted by the Board. 

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, participating employers contributed 4.70%/5.26% of each employee's 
covered payroll to the Kentucky Retirement Systems' Insurance Fund, which is equal to the actuarially determined rate 
set by the Board.  Administrative costs of Kentucky Retirement Systems are financed through employer contributions and 
investment earnings. 

Employees hired after September 1, 2008 are required to contribute an additional 1% of their covered payroll to the 
insurance fund. Contributions are deposited to an account created for the payment of health insurance benefits under 26 
USC Section 401(h). These members are classified in the Tier 2/Tier 3 structure of benefits, and the 1% contribution to 
the 401(h) account is non-refundable. 

The Water District contributed $6,193 for the year ended December 31, 2018 of the required contribution to the insurance 
fund.   Total contributions to the insurance fund, including the implicit subsidy for the year ended June 30, 2017 were 
$6,592. For additional information regarding contributions, please refer to the Defined Benefit Pension Plan footnote. 

OPEB Liabilities, Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources - At December 31, 2018, 
the Water District reported a liability of $85,010 for its proportionate share of the net OPEB liability. The net OPEB liability 
was measured as of June 30, 2017, and the total OPEB liability used to calculate the net OPEB liability was determined 
by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2016, rolled-forward to June 30, 2018 using generally accepted actuarial principles. 
The Water District's proportion of the net OPEB liability was determined using the Water District's actual contributions for 
the year ended June 30, 2018. This method is expected to be reflective of the Water District's long-term contribution effort. 
For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Water District's proportion was 0.004788% which is equal to its proportion 
measured as of June 30, 2018. 

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Water District recognized OPEB expense of $10,171. At December 31, 2018, 
the Water District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the 
following sources: 

  Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows 
 of Resources of Resources 

 
Differences between expected and actual liability experience        $        -0- $        9,907 

Effects of changes in assumptions  16,978          196         

Differences between projected and actual earnings on plan investments -0- 5,856 

Changes in proportion and differences between employer contributions 
 and proportionate share of contributions -0- 3,529 

Contributions subsequent to the measurement date + implicit subsidy         4,700             -0- 

 Total $    21,678 $     19,488 

$4,700 reported of deferred outflows of resources resulting from the Water District’s contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB liability in the year ending December 31, 2019. Other 
amounts reported as the net effect of deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources will be recognized 
in OPEB expense as follows: 
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      Year Ended      Amount 

 December 31, 2019 $         (371) 

 December 31, 2020 (371) 

 December 31, 2021 (371) 

 December 31, 2022 766 

 December 31, 2023 (1,414) 

 Thereafter      (749) 

 Total $     (2,510) 
 

Sensitivity of the Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate – The following presents 
the proportionate share of the net OPEB liability calculated using the single discount rate of 5.84%, as well as what the 
Water District's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1% 
lower (4.84 percent) or 1% higher (6.84 percent) than the current rate: 

Discount  Proportionate Share 
         Rate of Net OPEB Liability               
1% decrease 4.84% $ 110,414 
Current discount rate 5.84% $ 85,010 
1% increase 6.84% $ 63,370 

Sensitivity of the Water District's Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend 
Rate - The following presents the proportionate share of the net OPEB liability calculated using the current healthcare cost 
trend rates (see details in Actuarial Assumptions above), as well as what the proportionate share of the net OPEB liability 
would be if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that were 1% lower or 1% higher than the current rates: 

       Proportionate Share 
 of Net OPEB Liability               
1% decrease  $ 63,291 
Current healthcare cost trend rate  $ 85,010 
1% increase  $ 110,611  

 
Note 4 - Leave Policies 
The Nicholas County Water District’s vacation policy entitles an employee to two weeks of vacation time after one full year 
of employment., three with fifteen years of service and four weeks with twenty years of service. At the end of each year, 
employees are paid for any unused vacation time. 
 
The District’s personal/sick leave policy allows for six personal days and six sick days after one year of full-time 
employment. Employees may carry over no more than fifteen personal and sick days from one year to the next. Any unused 
personal days will be transferred to vacation days in December to replace any vacation days used and employees are 
compensated accordingly. Any unused sick days over the fifteen are lost at the end of each year. 

 
Note 5 - Changes in Capital Assets 
The following is a summary of changes in capital assets for the year: 

 

Balance Transfers/ Balance
1/1/2018 Additions Deletions 12/31/2018

Land, non-depreciable 20,997$        -$            -$         20,997$           

Utility plant and equipment 8,012,095      884,757       -              8,896,852         

Construction in process, non-depreciable 350,842        533,915       884,757    -                      
8,383,934$    1,418,672$  884,757$  8,917,849$       

Accumulated depreciation 3,766,724$    195,961$     -$         3,962,685$       

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 4,617,210$    1,222,711$  -$         4,955,164$        
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Note 6 - Revenue Bonds 
Water and Revenue Bonds constitute special obligations of the District solely secured by a lien on and pledge of the net 
revenues of the water system.  The revenue bonds are collateralized by the revenue of the water system and the various 
special funds established by the bond ordinances.  The ordinances provide that the revenue of the system is to be used 
first to pay operating and maintenance expenses of the system and second to establish and maintain the revenue bond 
funds.  Any remaining revenues may then be used for any lawful purpose.  The ordinances also contain certain provisions, 
which require the District to maintain pledged revenues.  The District must transfer monthly 1/6 of the next succeeding 
interest payment and 1/12 of the next succeeding principal payment from the operations and maintenance account into 
the bond and interest sinking account 
 

Note 7 – Contingencies 
The District is subject to possible examinations made by Federal and State authorities who determine compliance with 
terms, conditions, laws, and regulations governing other grants given to the District in the current and prior years.  There 
were no examinations for the year ended December 31, 2018.  Areas of noncompliance, if any, as a result of examinations 
would be included as a part of the “Findings and Questioned Costs” section of this report. 
 

Note 8 – Risk Management 
The District is exposed to various risks of losses related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assets; errors and 
omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The District carries commercial insurance coverage for the risks 
to the extent deemed prudent by District management. 
 

Note 9 – Compliance with Bond Ordinance 
On or before the 20th day of each month and after the required payment to the Operation and Maintenance account, the 
District is required to set aside an amount into a special account known as the Nicholas County Water District, Bond and 
Interest Sinking Fund. The amount to be set aside and paid into the Sinking Fund each month shall be sums equal to the 
following amounts: 

1. A sum equal to one-sixty (1/6) of the interest coming due on the next succeeding interest due date, with respect 
to all outstanding bond issues. 

2. A sum equal to one-twelfth (1/12) of the principal of all such bonds maturing on the next succeeding January 1st. 

The District had set aside $11,947 into the restricted account as of December 31, 2018. All deposits required above were 
made by the District during the year. 

Note 10 – Subsequent Events 
The District has evaluated subsequent events through September 13, 2019, and that is the date that the financial 
statements were available to be issued. 
 

Note 11 – Prior Period Adjustment 
Adjustments were made in accordance with GASB 75. One prior period adjustment was made in the amount of 
$100,557:            

Debit  |   (Credit)     
Account                Amount   
Net OPEB liability  $ 100,557   
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION



6/30/2014 6/30/2015 6/30/2016 6/30/2017 6/30/2018

 Proportion of the net pension liability (asset) 0.005218% 0.005180% 0.005230% 0.005002% 0.004788%

 Proportionate share of the net pension liability 
(asset) 

169,000$   222,842$   257,493$   292,782$   291,604$   

 Covered employee payroll 190,000$   123,000$   113,000$   121,781$   125,394$   

 Proportionate share of the net pension liability 
(asset) as a percentage of its covered employee 
payroll 

88.95% 181.17% 227.87% 240.42% 232.55%

 Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of 
the total pension liability (asset) 

66.80% 59.97% 55.50% 53.32% 53.30%

Nicholas County Water District
Schedule of Employer's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability

December 31, 2018
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12/31/2014 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2017 12/31/2018

Contractually required contribution 22,615$     15,474$     14,858$     18,424$     19,088$     

Contributions in relation to the contractually 
required contribution 22,615       15,474       14,858       18,424       19,088       

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$              -$              -$               -$              -$              

Covered employee payroll 190,000$  123,000$  113,000$  129,625$   124,221$  

Contributions as a percentage of covered 
employee payroll 11.90% 12.58% 13.15% 14.21% 15.37%

December 31, 2018

Nicholas County Water District
Schedule of Employer's Contributions - Net Pension Liability

19



12/31/2016 12/31/2017

 Proportion of net OPEB liability (asset) 0.005002% 0.004788%

 Proportionate share of net OPEB liability (asset) 100,557$      85,010$        

 Covered employee payroll  125,000$      125,394$      

 Proportionate share of net OPEB liability (asset) as a percentage of 
covered employee payroll  

80.45% 67.79%

 Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB 
liability 

52.40% 52.40%

Nicholas County Water District
Schedule of Employer's Proportionate Share of Net OPEB Liability

December 31, 2018
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12/31/2017 12/31/2018

Statutorily required contribution 5,760$          6,193$          

Contributions in relation to the statutorily required contribution 5,760            6,193            

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                  -$                 

Covered employee payroll 122,293$     124,221$      

Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 4.71% 4.99%

December 31, 2018

Nicholas County Water District
Schedule of Employer's Contributions - Net OPEB Liability
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Nicholas County Water District 
NOTES TO THE REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

For the year ended December 31, 2018 

 
Net Pension Liability  
Method and assumptions used in calculations of actuarially determined contributions: The actuarially determined 
contribution rates are determined on a biennial basis beginning with the fiscal year ending 2018, determined as of June 30, 
2017. Based on the June 30, 2017 actuarial valuation report, the actuarial methods and assumptions used to calculate 
these contributions raets are below: 

 
Net OPEB Liability 
The actuarially determined contributions rates effective for fiscal year ending 2018 that are documented in the schedule, 
Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate and Healthcare Trend Rate, are calculated as of June 
30, 2017. Based on the June 30, 2017 actuarial valuation report, the actuarial methods and assumptions used to calculate 
these contributions are below: 

 

 Determined by the actuarial valuation as of: 
 Actuarial cost method 

June 30, 2016 
Entry age  

 Asset valuation method: 
 
 

 Amortization method  

20% of the difference between market value of assets and the 
expected actuarial value of assets is recognized 
 
Level percent of pay 

 Amortization period 
 Investment return  

27 years, closed 
7.50% 

 Inflation  3.25%  
 Salary increase  4.00%, average  
 Mortality  RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table, projected to 2013 with 

Scale BB (set back 1 year for females) 

 Determined by the actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2016  
 Actuarial cost method  
 Asset valuation method 

Entry Age Normal 
20% of the difference between market value of assets and the 
expected actuarial value of assets is recognized 

 Amortization method  Level Percent of Pay  
 Amortization period 27 Years, Closed 
 Payroll Growth Rate 
 Investment return 

4.00%  
7.50% 

 Inflation 
 Salary Increase 
 Mortality 

 
 Healthcare Trend Rates 

Pre-65 
Post-65 

3.25% 
4.00%, average 
RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table, projected to 2013 with 
Scale BB (set back 1 year for females)7.50% 
Initial trend starting at 7.50% and gradually decreasing to an 
ultimate trend rate of 5.00% over a period of 5 years. 
Initial trend starting at 5.50% and gradually decreasing to an 
ultimate trend rate of 5.00% over a period of 2 years.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 

 REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT 
 OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH  

GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 
 
Board of Commissioners 
Nicholas County Water District 
Carlisle, Kentucky 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of 
the United States, the financial statements of the business-type activities of the Nicholas County Water District, as of and 
for the year ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise 
Nicholas County Water District’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated September 13, 2019. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Nicholas County Water District’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances 
for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the Nicholas County Water District’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Nicholas County Water District’s internal control. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph and was not designed 
to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. However, as described in the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs, we identified certain deficiencies in internal control that we 
consider to be material weaknesses and significant deficiencies. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, 
in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely 
basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a 
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented or detected and 
corrected on a timely basis. Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph 
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or, 
significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that 
we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material 
weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. We consider the deficiency described 
in the accompany schedule of findings and questioned costs to be a significant deficiency. [2018-001]  

Nicholas County Water District’s Response to Findings 

Nicholas County Water District’s response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the accompanying schedule 
of findings and questioned costs. Nicholas County Water District’s response was not subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 
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Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Nicholas County Water District’s financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and 
grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial 
statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, 
and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or 
other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the results of 
that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report 
is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s 
internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

John T. Lane & Associates LLC 
Mount Sterling, Kentucky 

September 13, 2019 
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NICHOLAS COUNTY WATER DISTRICT  
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND RESPONSES 

December 31, 2018 

 
PRIOR FINDINGS 
2017-001    Lack of Segregation of Duties – Repeated as 2018-001 
 
2017-002    Previous Manager Was Allegedly Stealing Money – Cleared 
 
2017-003    $47,635 in Uncategorized Expenses - Cleared 
 
CURRENT FINDINGS 
2018-001    Lack of Segregation of Duties  
Condition: The District has an inadequate segregation of duties within its internal control process.  
Criteria: All governmental entities should design their internal control to provide an adequate segregation of duties. 
Cause: The District does not have sufficient employees to adequately design its internal control.   
Recommendation: The District should continue to design and implement its internal control policies to provide the maximum 
segregation of duties possible. 
Response: We will do as recommended. 
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EXHIBIT 3 

PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING REPORT 
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